

# THE ACUTE ROLE OF GLUCOCORTICOIDS DURING EXERCISE ON LIPID METABOLISM

# **AOIBHE PASIEKA**

# A Thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Masters of Science

### GRADUATE PROGRAM IN KINESIOLOGY AND HEALTH SCIENCE

### YORK UNIVERSITY

## **TORONTO, ONTARIO**

February 2017

© Aoibhe Pasieka, 2017

#### ABSTRACT

Glucocorticoids (GCs) play a key role in regulating lipid metabolism. However, various studies have found conflicting results on whether they are predominantly lipolytic or lipogenic, likely due to differences in models, exposure times and which tissues were being examined[1]. While GCs are produced endogenously in response to stress, they are also potent anti-inflammatory agents and often consumed exogenously as a treatment for inflammatory conditions[2]. For this reason, it is necessary that we have a clear understanding of their physiological role in the regulation of metabolism. Despite this, little is known about their immediate response, especially in conjunction with exercise. For this study, Wistar rats were randomly divided into four groups: sedentary + vehicle (SV), sedentary + corticosterone (SC), exercise + vehicle (EV), and exercise + corticosterone (EC). All animals received an i.p. injection of their treatment (t = -15 min) and exercisers performed a 45-minute exercise on metabolic treadmills. All tissue collection occurred at t = +45 min. SC animals had more fluctuation in their respiratory exchange ratio (RER) over time compared to SV. In exercise groups, no differences in RER were observed. Non-esterified fatty acid (NEFA) levels were not significantly different between groups after one hour and lipolytic enzyme activity analyses indicated that SC animals had enhanced enzyme activity compared to EC, but were not different from SV (p = 0.047). Analyses indicate that GCs may acutely induce lipolysis when sedentary, but not in an exercise state.

ii

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Michael Riddell for providing me with the opportunity to carry out this project. Thank you for your support and guidance through this journey and for always offering a positive outlook when things were not going as planned. Your passion for not only this project, but all of the research that you are involved in is inspiring and always kept me motivated to try and excel at everything I am doing.

To my committee members, Dr. Heather Edgell, Dr. Gary Sweeney, and Dr. Jennifer Kuk, thank you for your academic support and for taking the time to review this document.

Emily Dunford, for patiently teaching me various lab techniques, assisting with my research and always being a supportive mentor in the lab. Knowing that I could come to you with any difficulties with my project and you would always be more than happy to offer your insight has been very helpful and important to me and. This project would not have evolved as it did without you. You have helped me grow as a researcher, more than I ever would have expected and I am very thankful for that.

To my lab mates and friends who have been here through the whole journey, Trevor Teich, Dessi Zaharieva, Deanna Porras, Erwan Leclair, as well as our newest members, Ariella Mandel, Caylee Greenberg, Mahsa Jahangiriesmaili, Jinessa Lane and Rubin Pooni, I thank you for helping me along the way with my data collection, as well as for your continuous encouragement and support. You have made coming to school everyday so enjoyable.

iii

To Dr. Rolando Ceddia and his student, Diane Sepa-Kishi, thank you for not only offering the use of your equipment, also taking the time to work with me. You have both being a great source of knowledge and assistance and I appreciate that you make the time discuss any of my results with you; you were both a great source of insight.

I thank my family and friends, who have encouraged me to keep going when I was feeling overwhelmed. To my parents and sister, who have made every effort to try and understand my research, I am so appreciative of your never-ending belief in my abilities. You are all are so hardworking and passionate in your own areas and having you as examples has pushed me to do my best with my work.

Lastly, to my boyfriend Bram, thank you for always being a solid support for me. Whenever I felt overwhelmed or discouraged I could always turn to you and you would always help me see things in a positive like and encourage me to persevere. Thank you to all that have helped me along the way; this thesis is dedicated to you all.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract	ii
Acknowledgments	iii
Table of Contents	V
List of Figures	vii
List of Abbreviations	viii
1.0 Introduction	1
2.0 Literature Review	
2.1 Energy Substrate Metabolism	
i. Overview of Energy Substrate Metabolism	3
ii. Carbohydrate Metabolism	3
iii. Lipid Metabolism	4
iv. The Lipolytic Pathway	5
v. Anti-Lipolytic Pathway	9
vi. Measures of Substrate Metabolism	
2.2 Hormonal Influence on Energy Metabolism	13
i. Overview of GC Metabolism in Normal Physiology	13
ii. GCs and fuels (CHO, Protein, Lipids)	15
iii. Dual Roles of Glucocorticoids in Lipid metabolism	17
2.3 Models of GC Manipulation and Lipid metabolism	17
i. Adrenalectomized Models	17
ii. Cell Culture Models	
iii. Human and In Vivo Rodent Models	20
2.4 GCs in the Subcutaneous versus Omental/Visceral Depots	21
2.5 GC Association with Dysregulation and metabolic disease	23
2.6 Lifestyle Influences on metabolism	25
i. Diet	25
ii. Exercise	
iii. Aerobic Exercise and Hormonal Regulation	27
iv. Role of GCs in Aerobic Exercise	
2.7 Clinical Relevance/Gaps in the literature	
3.0 Rationale and Objectives	31
3.1 Background and Rationale	
3.2 Purpose	32
3.3 Hypothesis	32
4.0 Manuscript	
Introduction	
Methods	34
Results	41
Discussion	44
Figures	49
5.0 Summary, Limitations and Future Directions	57
6.0 References	60

7.0 Appendix	83
--------------	----

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.0. Lipolysis	
<b>1.1</b> The lipolytic pathway	7
<b>1.2</b> Triacylglycerol breakdown within the lipid droplet	8
Figure 2.0. The Anti-lipolytic pathway	11
Figure 3.0. Glucocorticoid Physiology with chronic exposure	16
MANUSCRIPT	
Figure 1.0. Project design	
1.1 Animal treatment groups	
<b>1.2</b> Acclimation protocol design	
<b>1.3</b> Experimental protocol design	40
Figure 2.0. Plasma corticosterone content	
Figure 3.0. Respiratory exchange ratio	
Figure 4.0. Plasma non-esterified fatty acid content	51
Figure 5.0. Lipolytic Enzyme measures	
<b>5.1</b> Hormone sensitive lipase activity	
5.2 Perilipin activity	53
Figure 6.0. Measures of Glycaemia	
6.1 Blood glucose data	54
6.2 Plasma insulin data	
6.3 Plasma glucagon data	
APPENDIX	
Figure S1.0 Body Weight	
Figure S2.0 Metabolic data for all animals in which RER data was collected.	
Figure S3.0 RER data for exercising animals at all time points	

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

5' AMP	5' adenosine monophosphate
11 $\beta$ -HSD	11 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase
AC	Adenylyl cyclase
AFABP	Adipocyte fatty acid binding protein
ANS	Autonomic nervous system
AQP7	Aquaporin-7
$\alpha$ -AR	Alpha adrenergic receptor
ACTH	Adrenocorticotropic hormone
ATGL	Adipose triglyceride lipase
β-AR	Beta adrenergic receptor
BG	Blood glucose
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CBG	Corticosteroid-binding protein
CGI-58	Comparative gene identification-58
CLAMS	Comprehensive Lab Animal Monitoring System
CO <sub>2</sub>	Carbon dioxide
CS	Cushing's syndrome
DAG	Diacylglycerol
DEX	Dexamethasone
EC	Exercise corticosterone ( <i>treatment group</i> )
EV	Exercise vehicle ( <i>treatment group</i> )
G6Pase	Glucose 6-phosphatase
GC	Glucocorticoid
GH	Growth hormone
Gi	G-inhibitory
GR	Glucocorticoid receptor
Gs	G-stimulatory
HFD	High fat diet
HPA	Hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal
HSL	Hormone sensitive lipase
Ι	Insulin
IL	Interleukin
IMCL	Intramuscular lipid content
IR	Insulin receptor
IRS	Insulin receptor substrate
LPL	Lipoprotein Lipase
MAG	Monoacylglycerol
MetS	Metabolic Syndrome
MGL	Monoacylglycerol lipase
MR	Mineralocorticoid receptor
NEFA	Non-esterified fatty acid
O <sub>2</sub>	Oxvgen
PDE-3B	Phosphodiesterase 3B
PDK-1	Phosphoinositide-dependent kinase-1
	priorite appendent minube i

PEPCK	Phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase
pHSL	Phosphorylated HSL
Pi-3K	Phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase
POMC	Pro-opiomelanocortin
PKA	Protein kinase A
PKB	Protein Kinase B
PLIN	Perilipin
PP-1	Protein phosphatase-1
RER	Respiratory exchange ratio
SC	Sedentary corticosterone ( <i>treatment group</i> )
SV	Sedentary vehicle (treatment group)
TAG	Triacylglycerol
VCO <sub>2</sub>	Volume of carbon dioxide
VO <sub>2</sub>	Volume of oxygen
VO <sub>2</sub> Max	Maximum volume of oxygen uptake
WAT	White adipose tissue

#### **1.0 INTRODUCTION**

Glucocorticoids (GCs) are hormones released from the adrenal glands and one of their predominant roles is to provide fuels to be used as energy in a state of stress[3]. Their release is regulated by the hypothalamic-adrenal-pituitary (HPA) axis and rises significantly with a stress response, although, they are also released at a low concentration throughout the day in a diurnal pattern where they are highest before waking up and lowest going to bed[4]. In addition to their endogenous release, they are also potent anti-inflammatory agents and are often supplemented to treat various conditions. Since the 1950s, GCs have been a predominant treatment for inflammation, either for an acute injury, or for chronic conditions including arthritis or asthma[5]. However, the rise in their use has shed light on some of their less desirable metabolic consequences, specifically when used over a chronic period. Various rodent models have also revealed that hypercortisolemia results in adiposity and associated comorbidities, including fatty liver, hepatic steatosis, elevated fasting glycaemia and insulin resistance[6,7]. These effects are also seen in Cushing's syndrome (CS), a condition of chronic hypercortisolism, often caused by enhanced stimulation of the HPA axis[8,9]. Despite their ability to induce adiposity, GCs enhance lipolysis, the breakdown of TAGs to NEFAs and glycerol, through increasing the transcription of various lipolytic enzymes (ATGL and HSL), as observed in various cell culture and rodent models[10,11]. Most of these studies have examined the chronic adaptations, but their immediate actions have not been studied extensively in vivo. Interestingly, cell culture models using 3T3-L1 cells have found that a very acute exposure (1 hour) to GCs exerts the opposite effects on lipid

metabolism, impairing lipolytic actions[12]. This impairment was further increased as concentration of GCs was increased.

Aerobic exercise is also considered a pro-lipolytic trigger, and being a physiological stressor, it induces a rise in catecholamines, immediately followed by an increase in GCs. It is often assumed that during exercise, GCs are involved in increasing the mobilization of fuels, specifically glucose and non-esterified fatty acids (NEFAs)[13], yet the acute interaction between elevated GCs and aerobic exercise on metabolism has yet to be thoroughly examined. In order to gain a better understanding of the immediate actions of GC on metabolism *in vivo*, and a better understanding of the physiological lipid response with exercise, we designed a model that examines the acute (1 hour) effects of GCs on lipid metabolism in both a resting and exercising state to get a better understanding of the specific actions that would occur with a stress response or a one time treatment with glucocorticoids.

#### **2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW**

#### 2.1 ENERGY SUBSTRATE METABOLISM

#### i. Overview of Energy Substrate Metabolism

Metabolism comprises all of the chemical processes within a cell, tissue or organism that are required to sustain life. These processes are tightly controlled with various regulators and feedback signals in order to maintain cellular homeostasis[14]. Additionally, cells have the ability to respond to ever-changing environments and adapt to a number of factors including lifestyle (diet, physical activity, stress), environmental (temperature, altitude), age, gender and genetic components[15–21].

Although there are many aspects to consider when studying metabolism, energy substrate metabolism focuses on utilizing fuels for energy, specifically looking at the 3 major macronutrients: carbohydrates (CHOs), lipids and proteins. It is important to note that in normal physiological conditions, proteins contribute a negligible amount to cellular energy. For this reason, this review will be predominantly focused on glucose and lipid metabolism, with special attention being placed on lipids. All tissues in the body require energy to function, but the three major tissues that influence fuel oxidation are: skeletal muscle (which has the greatest influence on fuel selection), liver, and adipose tissue. Dysregulation in any of these tissues results in significant metabolic consequences.

#### ii. Carbohydrate Metabolism

Due to the increasing prevalence of insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes, a lot of research has been focused on glucose metabolism and regulatory factors. Glucose metabolism is predominantly regulated through insulin signalling, which increases glucose uptake into tissues[22]. It does this through inducing the translocation of the glucose transporter, GLUT4, to the cell membrane to allow an influx of glucose into the cell[23]. Additionally, GLUT4 translocation may occur through an insulin-independent pathway when stimulated by muscle contraction, such as with exercise[24]. Once glucose enters the cell, it may be stored as glycogen; otherwise, it may undergo glycolysis and be converted to pyruvate. From here, it may be oxidized and used as a fuel for energy, either through aerobic respiration in the mitochondria, or anaerobically in the cytosol. Unlike the other major macronutrients, the body does not have a very large storage capacity for CHOs and its metabolism is regulated in a tissue-specific manner[25]. If systemic levels are elevated, the pancreas will release insulin to facilitate glucose uptake in tissues and the liver will convert excess glucose into glycogen until it needs to be utilized again[26]. Conversely, if circulating levels are low, the pancreas will release glucagon to signal the liver to convert glycogen into glucose.

#### iii. Lipid Metabolism

Adipose tissue is a functional metabolic tissue that affects thermogenesis, energy storage, metabolic regulation, mitochondrial biogenesis and immune system stimulation through the release of cytokines[27,28]. It is influenced by nutrition, satiety level, neuroendocrine factors and the circadian rhythm[29,30]. There are two types of adipose tissue, brown and white. Brown adipose tissue's primary function is to convert energy into heat[27,31]. White adipose tissue (WAT) is more abundant in adults and serves as a major energy reserve in mammals[32]. WAT is maintained through a balance between two processes, lipogenesis and lipolysis. Lipogenesis is the process of fatty acid synthesis in which triacylglycerol (TAG) is stored to be utilized later[33]. This process is favoured

when there is a positive energy balance, such as in a post-prandial state when insulin (a potent lipogenic agent) is high, or in a resting state when energy expenditure is low[34]. One way in which insulin influences lipogenesis is by increasing lipoprotein lipase (LPL), an enzyme involved in up-taking NEFAs into the cell to either be stored or oxidized. At the same time, insulin also inhibits lipolysis by reducing the activity of various lipolytic enzymes within the adipocytes themselves.

Lipolysis is the contrary process; it involves the hydrolysis of TAG to allow them to be mobilized and released into the blood as NEFAs[32]. In addition to glucose, NEFAs are a major fuel source that may be oxidized and used for energy via mitochondrial oxidative metabolism[34]. For this reason, lipolysis is dominant when there is a deficit in energy, such as in a fasted state or during exercise, when the body requires additional fuel.

Healthy individuals are able to balance these processes and maintain a healthy amount of body fat. However, for various reasons, metabolic deregulation sometimes occurs and may cause excessive accumulation of adipose tissue and an increases risk of metabolic aberrations and associated comorbidities[29].

#### iv. The Lipolytic Pathway

Lipolysis is regulated through many factors, but the greatest known moderators of the process are catecholamines[35] (Fig. 1.1). Circulating catecholamines, epinephrine (Epi) and norepinephrine (NE), bind to the  $\beta$ -adrenergic receptors ( $\beta$ -ARs) of adipocytes; this leads to the activation of adenylyl cyclase (AC) through interacting with the Gstimulatory (Gs) coupled protein[36]. AC increases cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) production, which leads to protein kinase A (PKA) activation[36]. PKA has two roles in promoting the lipolytic pathway, while simultaneously blocking the anti-lipolytic pathway. PKA activation inhibits insulin action by blocking phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase (PI-3K) activity, which ultimately inhibits the anti-lipolytic effects of insulin to reduce intracellular cAMP content[37]. In addition, PKA activation has two modes of action to directly promote lipolysis; it triggers the phosphorylation of both perilipin (PLINs) and hormone sensitive lipase (HSL)[38]. PLINs are a family of enzymes that suppress lipolysis in a basal state, yet facilitate PKA stimulated lipolysis[39,40]. PLINs are structural proteins that coat the lipid droplet and once phosphorylated, assist in translocating phosphorylated HSL from the cytosol to lipid droplets, where phosphorylated HSL can facilitate lipolysis[41]. Additionally, it has been suggested that PLIN may be involved in positive feedback of PKA to increase the activation and further stimulate lipolysis[40]. In addition to assisting in the translocation of phosphorylated HSL (pHSL), the phosphorylation of perilipin also frees comparative gene identification 58 (CGI-58), a protein bound to perilipin. Once free, CGI-58 is able to activate adipose triglyceride lipase (ATGL) on the lipid droplet. ATGL, HSL, as well as monoacylglycerol lipase (MGL), are the primary lipases responsible for the breakdown of TAG to NEFAs in the lipid droplet (Fig. 1.2). The first step in the process involves ATGL, the rate-limiting enzyme, which converts TAG to diacylglycerol (DAG), releasing one NEFA in the process. From here, phosphorylated HSL converts DAG to monoacylglycerol (MAG), releasing an additional NEFA. Lastly, MGL cleaves MAG to be broken down into glycerol and one last NEFA[32]. The NEFAs and glycerol are then returned to the cytosol and are released back into circulation. Adipocyte fatty acid

binding protein (AFABP) shuttles the NEFAs out of the adipocyte and Aquaporin-7 (AQP7) facilitates the release of glycerol into circulation.



Figure 1.1, The lipolytic pathway within the adipocyte. Catecholamines (epinephrine or norepinephrine) act at the beta-adrenergic receptor ( $\beta$ -AR) to stimulate adenylyl cyclase (AC), which converts adenosine triphosphate (ATP) into cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP). cAMP phosphorylates protein kinase A (PKA), which phosphorylates hormonse sensitive lipase (HSL) and perilipin (PLIN). PLIN translocates HSL to the lipid droplet. Within the lipid droplet, triacylglycerols (TAGs) are broken down into 3 Non-esterified fatty acids (NEFAs) + 1 glycerol. NEFAs leave the cell with the assistance of adipocyte fatty acid binding protein (AFABP) and glycerol is released by aquaporin-7 (AQP7).



Triacylglycerol breakdown within lipid Figure 1.2, the droplet. Triacylglycerol (TAG) is broken down into diacylglycerol (DAG) by adipose triglyceride lipase (ATGL). In this step, one non-esterified fatty acid (NEFA) is released. Phosphorylated-hormone sensitive lipase (pHSL) breaks down DAG into monoacylglycerol (MAG), releasing one NEFA in the process. Monoacylglycerol lipase (MGL) breaks down MAG to one NEFA + one glycerol.

#### v. Anti-Lipolytic Pathway

The lipolytic pathway may also be inhibited by various hormones, most notably, insulin. When insulin binds to the insulin receptor (IR), it activates tyrosine kinases, which causes an interaction with insulin receptor substrates 1 and 2 (IRS-1, IRS-2). This leads to the phosphorylation of Pi-3K[42]. Pi-3K goes on to activate of phosphodiesterase 3B (PDE-3B), an enzyme that catalyzes cAMP breakdown to 5' adenosine monophosphate (5' AMP), limiting the amount of PKA phosphorylation, thereby inhibiting all the downstream actions in the lipolytic pathway. In addition, insulin is involved in the phosphorylation of protein phosphatase-1 (PP-1), an enzyme that dephosphorylates HSL, preventing its action[42,43]. For a visual understanding of this pathway, refer to Fig. 2.

Catecholamines (Epi and NE), the greatest known stimulators of lipolysis, may also inhibit the pathway if it binds to the alpha-adrenergic receptor ( $\alpha$ -AR) of the adipocyte. While the  $\beta$ -AR stimulates lipolysis, the  $\alpha$ -AR initiates the opposite action and phosphorylates Protein Kinase B (PKB), a downstream target of Pi-3K[37]. The binding of catecholamines to one isoform of these receptors over the other is determined by the affinity and abundance of each receptor at the tissue level. For example, in humans,  $\alpha$ -ARs outnumber  $\beta$ -ARs in the subcutaneous fat and therefore these tissues have an impaired lipolytic response[44,45]. The ratio of  $\alpha$ -AR: $\beta$ -AR is adaptable, for instance, the ratio is increased with a high fat diet and causes obesity in rats via hyperplasia[45,46]. The anti-lipolytic effects of this receptor are clear when their actions are blocked in adipocytes. Treatment with either isoproterenol, or epinephrine elicited a spike in glycerol release[47]. Treatment with yohimbine, an  $\alpha$ -AR antagonist, elicited a similar response in stimulating glycerol release, comparable to the  $\beta$ -AR agonist treatments, indicating that a blockade of these receptors enhances lipolysis [47].



**Figure 2. The anti-lipolytic pathway** Insulin acts at the insulin receptor to interact with insulin receptor substrate-1 (IRS-1). IRS-1 phosphorylates phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase (Pi3K), which activates phosphoinositide-dependent kinase-1 (PDK1). PDK1 phosphorylates protein kinase B (PKB), which activates phosphodiesterase 3B (PDE-3B), which breaks down cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) to inactive 5'AMP. Epinephrine may stimulate the  $\alpha$ -AR to also increase PKB phosphorylation, leading to enhanced PKB phosphorylation and increased activation of PDE-3B.

#### vi. Measures of Substrate Metabolism

Determining the oxidation of substrates is beneficial in studying metabolic responses. In normal conditions, proteins contribute a negligible amount to energy metabolism, especially during exercise, and for this reason, most research focuses on the balance between CHO and lipid use. In animals, radio-tracers have been used to determine tissue utilization of various substrates[48–50] and in humans; stable isotopes have been used[49,51,52]. Additionally, substrate metabolism at the specific tissue level has been measured by examining the arterio-venous difference in substrates and their markers, such as glucose, glycerol or NEFAs, to determine the utilization of an individual tissue[53]. A major limitation of these methods is their invasiveness. For this reason, the respiratory exchange ratio (RER), (VCO<sub>2</sub>/VO<sub>2</sub>), is the most commonly used method to estimate the contribution of CHOs and lipids during a steady state (either during resting state, or a steady submaximal exercise)[13]. The ratio uses indirect calorimetry to determine substance type and oxidation rate by measuring of oxygen (O<sub>2</sub>) consumption and carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) production[54].

The basis of this relationship is that lipids and CHOs differ in their  $O_2$  production when being metabolized. The range for RER values is from 0.7 - 1.0, with the highest percentage of fat oxidation giving a value of 0.7, whereas a greatest percent of CHOs being oxidized is indicated by a value close to 1.0[54]. For an average resting individual that consumes a mixed diet, the RER would be in the range of 0.82-0.86. Substrate utilization at rest is determined predominantly by fuel availability. Elevated NEFAs enhance fatty acid oxidation while simultaneously impairing glucose utilization through impairing insulin signalling[55], whereas a diet high in CHOs favours CHO oxidation[25,56].

#### 2.2 Hormonal Influence on Energy Metabolism

#### i. Overview of GC Metabolism in Normal Physiology

Glucocorticoids (GCs) are naturally occurring hormones released from the adrenal cortex under the influence of the hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis[57]. Along with catecholamines, GCs are released as part of the fight-or-flight response during stress. The HPA axis is activated by the secretion of corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) from the hypothalamus which activates pituitary pro-opiomelanocortin (POMC)[58] gene transcription to increase adenocotropin hormone (ACTH) in the anterior pituitary gland. ACTH signals the adrenal glands to release GCs from the adrenal cortex[58]. In healthy individuals, release fluctuates throughout the day in a diurnal pattern, with secretion being highest upon awakening (morning) and lowest in the evening, although there is also a constant low concentration basal release [1]. This pattern is reversed in nocturnal animals (e.g. rodents). Release may also fluctuate in response to environmental stressors and food intake [59]. In addition to their endogenous release, cortisol and the various derivatives (e.g. dexamethasone, prednisolone, hydrocortisone) may also be consumed exogenously for their known anti-inflammatory properties to treat inflammation or autoimmune diseases[60].

Once in circulation, they may exist in two forms in humans: firstly, inactive and bound to corticosteroid-binding protein (CBG) and otherwise, they may be active and circulate unbound[61]. In humans, cortisol is the active form (in rodents, corticosterone) and cortisone is inactive (in rodents, 11-dehydrocortcicosterone)[1]. If active, GCs may

readily cross the plasma membrane and may bind to the intracellular glucocorticoid receptor (GR)[61], a steroid nuclear receptor that is found in abundance throughout the body. The mineralocorticoid receptor (MR) may also be activated by GCs in some tissues, specifically found in the distal nephron, colon and sweat glands[34]. Activation of these receptors may be amplified by the pre-receptor 11 beta- hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1 (11\beta-HSD-1)[34], an oxo-reductase enzyme that catalyzes the conversion of inactive cortisone into active cortisol[62]. 11B-HSD-1 is predominantly expressed in liver, adipose, bones, nervous system, muscles and lungs[63,64]. Conversely, GR activation may be down-regulated via the activation of 11β-HSD-2, a dehydrogenase pre-receptor that converts cortisol back into cortisone[65]. Through GR activation, GCs play a role in regulating metabolism[66], influencing growth, and impacting the immune system[67]. The implications of excess GCs have been extensively studied, although it is not entirely clear whether some of their actions are a result of direct genomic changes or are the indirect consequence of influencing other hormones, including epinephrine, insulin or glucagon. In addition to interacting with the GR, they are also believed to influence other hormones that may elicit a number of responses[66]. Hypercortisolemic models have demonstrated that elevated GCs result in insulin resistance, increased protein catabolism, elevated plasma glucose and lipolysis[34,60]. In a short-term stressed state, these responses are quite adaptive, increasing substrate availability for energy via the mobilization of glucose, lipids and amino acids. However, these responses are also seen with a chronic exposure to GCs and if sustained over a long period become maladaptive and are associated with insulin resistance and obesity[68]. For this reason, various signalling pathways tightly control GC regulation to meet the demands of the body and provide feedback in order to adapt to changing environments[69].

#### ii. GCs and fuels (CHO, Protein, Lipids)

GCs play a role in influencing all of the major fuel sources. They are potent inducers of hyperglycaemia through specific actions within the various major metabolic tissues. They influence various counter-regulatory hormones including, insulin, catecholamines and glucagon, to alter fuel metabolism [70–72].

GCs decrease insulin signalling and therefore reduce glucose uptake in the muscle, which is one of the most influential tissues on glucose metabolism [73-75]. In the liver, GCs also induce insulin resistance. This in turn results in increases in gluconeogenesis via the increased expression of PEPCK and G6Pase, thereby enhancing hepatic glucose output[72,76,77]. In the pancreas, GC overexposure results in impairments in insulin secretion[78,79]. Lastly, in adipose tissue, GCs reduce the responsiveness to insulin through decreasing IRS-1 phosphorylation and reducing PKB activity[80]. Studies examining the short term effects of GCs on adipose cells using 3T3-L1 cells (30 min Dexamethasone (DEX)) have shown that GCs induce immediate effects on adipose by inhibiting the insulin response[81]. They do this by impairing receptor signalling, although they do not change receptor expression[81]. Insulin receptor expression is altered, however, with a *long term* exposure to GCs (24-hr DEX) through GR-mediated reductions in IRS-1 and PKB concentrations in rat adipocytes[82]. In tissues with decreased expression of GR and thereby reduced GC actions, there is an association with increased insulin sensitivity in humans[83].



Figure 3.0. Metabolic effects of chronic GC exposure at the various metabolic tissues. HPA stimulation results in glucocorticoid (GC) release from the adrenal glands. Once in circulation, GCs increase blood glucose (BG) through increasing gluconeogenesis (GNG) in the liver via increasing GNG enzyme activity (Phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (PEPCK) and Glucose 6-phosphatase (G6Pase), while impairing insulin release and insulin sensitivity at the various tissues. In adipose, insulin signalling is reduced through impaired insulin-receptor substrate (IRS-1) and protein kinase B (PKB) activity. In muscle, glucose uptake is reduced due to impaired insulin signalling. The pancreas has reduced beta cell function and decrases the amount of insulin output. GCs increase fatty acid release (lipolysis) and promote lipid storage in the adipose depot itself, as well as in liver (triglyceride (TG)) and muscle (intramyocellular lipid content (IMCL)).

#### iii. Dual Roles of Glucocorticoids in Lipid metabolism

The actions of GCs on lipid metabolism have been extensively studied through various models and species. Several early studies used an adrenalectomy model on rodents supplemented with GCs exogenously, either to physiological or supraphysiological levels. From here, various *in vitro* models using isolated adipocytes have been used to try and examine specific mechanisms. *In vivo* murine models, as well as human studies have been used to examine GC overexposure. Studies have utilized both exogenous GC treatments, as well as examined disease states where there is a chronic elevation in GC release, such as in Cushing's syndrome. Conversely, the effects of impaired GCs have been studied by examining conditions with impaired GC release, such as Addison's disease, or by using GR blockers, such as RU-486 [84,85].

The lipolytic actions of GCs have been confirmed in various studies, both *in vivo* and *in vitro*, by increasing the rate of lipolysis through increases in lipolytic enzymes and receptor changes [10,86]. However, in certain circumstances, such as with very acute cell culture models, glucocorticoids are found to be anti-lipolytic and potentially even lipogenic, making their role in lipid metabolism quite perplexing[12,87]. Some of the differences in lipid metabolism response are related to variation between models (i.e., *in vivo* versus *in vitro*), concentration and duration of exposure, differences between species or depots, as well as some confounding effects due to the presence or absence of other regulatory hormones (e.g. Epi, insulin, growth hormone (GH) etc.).

#### 2.3 Models of GC Manipulation and Lipid metabolism

### i. Adrenalectomy Models

Many of the early studies examining the role of glucocorticoids on lipid metabolism used adrenalectomized rodents. The main benefit of this model is that it eliminates the endogenous release of both GCs and epinephrine, either of which may be supplemented back with exogenous treatment. Adrenalectomized rats had impaired lipolysis due to reduced  $\beta$ -AR concentration, as well as by reduced coupling with AC. This impairment was found to be corrected with short-term Dexamethasone (DEX) treatment (5mg/kg, 24-48hr) through increases in  $\beta$ -AR concentration [88]. However, once again some studies did not find this effect. In an adrenalectomized rat model, treatment with GCs did not have any enhancements in lipolysis unless treated in combination with growth hormone (GH)[77]. When treated with both, the enhancement in lipolysis was believed to be due to an increased sensitivity to epinephrine (either by increased  $\beta$ -AR concentration or enhanced AC coupling), as measured by an increase in cAMP[77].

#### ii. Cell Culture Models

Cell culture models using isolated adipocytes from animal or humans, or 3T3-L1 cells, an established pre-adipocyte cell line that is derived from mice, have been very useful in studies examining the regulation of enzymes with GCs. They have also been useful in determining the specific effects of GCs without the interaction of other hormones[89]. Many of these models have demonstrated that GC treatment enhances lipolytic capacity. Isolated 3T3-L1 cells exposed to DEX for 24 hours had increased expression of both ATGL and HSL, key lipolytic enzymes[10,90], as well as enhanced PKA activity[11]. Additionally, DEX treatment (30-100 nM, 24 hours) on primary rat adipocytes down-regulated the expression of PDE-3B (mRNA and content), thereby

impairing the antilipolytic actions of insulin and further enhancing cAMP production to thereby promote lipolysis[11]. This was accompanied with an increase in glycerol release, indicating enhanced lipolysis had occurred. A study examining the cumulative effects of DEX (0.016ug/ml) in combination with GH (1.0 ug/mL) in isolated rat adipocytes, found that there was increased glycerol and fatty acid release 2 hours following treatment (4 hour treatment in a 2 mL volume)[91]. Interestingly, neither GH nor DEX alone produced a significant effect on NEFA release in isolated adipocytes, however, DEX did increase lipolysis in isolated rat fat pads[91]. These effects on lipolysis were countered when isolated adipocytes were treated with insulin in combination with either DEX, or DEX + GH[91]. Xu and colleagues found that 4-hour treatment with DEX was sufficient enough to note a slight increase in NEFA release, but not glycerol, a by-product of lipolysis in isolated adipocytes (10-100nM). Following 16-24 hours, release of both glycerol and NEFAs was significantly increased in a time dependent manner in this model[11]. It has previously been reported that GC responses are not notable until approximately 4-8 hours [11,42], likely the time required to see responses of stimulating the GR. When treated with GR-antagonist RU-486, glycerol release was suppressed, further indicating that these were genomic, receptor mediated adaptations[11].

There is reason to believe that GCs exhibit very different immediate, non-genomic immediate actions. Interestingly, 3T3-L1 cells *acutely* exposed to corticosterone (1 hour), have a decreased rate of glycerol release compared to controls[12]. At this exposure time, increasing the concentration of corticosterone resulted in further decreases in glycerol

release, indicating anti-lipolytic actions in an acute setting[10]. Further investigation of these potential non-genomic actions is required in an *in vivo* model.

#### iii. Human and In Vivo Rodent Models

Alterations in GC concentrations in vivo have been extensively studied in both *in vivo* animal models and in humans, but similarly to cell culture studies, most research has focused on the chronic adaptations. *In vivo* models have been beneficial for examining the interaction between GCs and various regulatory hormones, most notably, insulin.

In rodents, implantation of a corticosterone pellet (300 mg) resulted in an increase in lipolysis when measured after 10 days, despite an increase in visceral adiposity[10]. Studies examining short-term GC over-exposure (~6 hours) in humans also elicited a lipolytic response[92]. Healthy men that received an infusion of hydrocortisone had increased glycerol in the interstitial and femoral adipose tissue, as well as systemic glycerol when measured up to 6 hours after infusion[92], comparable to the expected time of genomic effects to occur in cell culture models. Interestingly, in a study using healthy subjects that had hydrocortisone infused to achieve plasma cortisol concentrations of 1500–1700nmol/L, it was observed that 4-5 hours following treatment there was an increase in lipolysis in the subcutaneous adipose tissue of the limbs. However, in the abdominal subcutaneous adipose, there was a decrease in NEFA release and HSL activity, suggesting a potential anti-lipolytic mechanism in this depot [93]. This study provided insight to the potential depot specific differences in GC responses, as observed in the phenotype of individuals with chronic hypercortisolemia (i.e.; Cushing's syndrome (CS)). This condition results in increased abdominal adiposity, while muscle and adipose is wasted in the limbs. Studies on CS patients have demonstrated that they have reduced lipolytic activity, as indicated by impaired NEFA turnover[94,95]. Additionally, obese individuals have local elevations in GC activity through increased GR and  $11\beta$ -HSD-1 content in adipose tissue, indicating that GCs are involved in promoting adipose storage[96].

As mentioned earlier, although some short-term exposure studies (6-48 hours) have been performed, the immediate, non-genomic actions have not been as extensively studied in an acute *in vivo* model. In rodents, a handling-stress model has been used as an effective way to induce a stress response and it has been found that 165 minutes following stress results in an efflux in NEFA release[97]. However, these studies are limited because it is difficult to determine if these changes are the result of GC elevations, or the more immediate actions of Epi and NE that are also released in a stress response. Additional investigation is required to further understand the immediate actions of GC.

#### 2.4 GCs in the Subcutaneous versus Omental/Visceral Depots

Excessive accumulation of body fat is known to increase the risks of metabolic abnormalities and the distribution and type of fat are also important factors that contribute to potential complications. Excessive android adiposity (abdominal accumulation), in combination with increased visceral fat poses an increased risk for associated metabolic complications, such as hyperglycaemia, insulin resistance and elevated triglycerides[93,94]. Individuals with a gynoid distribution (increased lipid accumulation in gluteo-femoral region) have a larger proportion of subcutaneous fat and increased accumulation of this type of fat is not associated with metabolic aberrations.

As discussed, the phenotype of individuals with hypercortisolemia is unusual. GCs induce adiposity through stimulating adipogenesis, as well as enhancing adipocyte hypertrophy[100]. Microarray studies have determined that GCs have a powerful effect on influencing gene networks that regulate human adipose tissue, promoting lipid accumulation in abdominal adipose tissue (both omental and subcutaneous)[101]. Looking at the phenotype of these individuals with chronically elevated GCs, it is clear there is some altered regulation of adipose tissue and that different adipose depots elicit difference responses. Increases in omental (i.e. visceral) adipose tissue are associated with elevated cortisol, androgens and reduced GH [102]. As stated, subcutaneous adipose of the extremities is diminished in these individuals. Various studies have examined the potential mechanisms for these differences [8,96,101-103]. Considering that in conditions such as metabolic syndrome or obesity, systemic GC levels may remain in the normal range, one of the major hypotheses is that the specific depots are susceptible to tissue-specific enhanced activation of GCs through increased GR or 11β-HSD-1 expressions [104,105].

11β -HSD1 content has been established as an important predictor of adiposity[103]. Higher levels of 11β-HSD-1 and cortisol content have been found in omental compared to subcutaneous adipose tissue in women with excess abdominal adiposity[96]. Both omental and subcutaneous adipose tissue were extracted from healthy individuals and exposed to elevated DEX (20 nmol/l in 1mL) and insulin, which was chosen to replicate a stress response. 11β-HSD-1 mRNA content and activity was enhanced in the omental adipose tissue, indicating a role in which GCs contribute to visceral obesity[106]. This visceral-specific up-regulation of 11β-HSD-1 activity is also seen in Zucker rats, a diabetic rodent model[107]. In the visceral versus subcutaneous adipose of obese patients, there is increased 11β-HSD-1 and cortisol content[103]. Additionally, this depot had an increased expression of enzymes involved in fatty acid metabolism when compared to the subcutaneous depot in both obese and healthy subjects[103]. Increased local activation of GCs is accompanied by increased GR density in omental compared to subcutaneous human adipose tissue and more GC binding occurs in intra-abdominal adipose[83,108]. When examining RNA sequencing on abdominal subcutaneous adipose from patients with Cushing's disease, it was found that GCs also play a role in upregulating lipogenic genes[109].

Adipocytes treated with DEX have an enhanced capacity to uptake free fatty acids via DEX-induced increases in LPL activity, a known lipogenic protein. The increase in LPL activity more pronounced in omental compared to subcutaneous adipocytes, further contributing to a potential mechanism for GCs to promote central adipocyte hypertrophy[110].

Contrary to the impaired insulin sensitivity that GC administration causes in visceral adipose tissue and muscle, short-term GC administration (14 hour hydrocortisone infusion of 0.2mg/kg\*hr) enhances insulin sensitivity in subcutaneous adipose tissue[8]. This is also seen in subcutaneous adipocytes treated with DEX[111]. Considering that GCs induce insulin resistance, it is plausible that the enhanced lipolytic activity in this depot may be an indirect effect of GCs through impairing insulin signalling.

#### 2.5 GC Association with Dysregulation and Metabolic Disease

Despite the benefits being a potent anti-inflammatory agent, chronic overexposure of GCs results in CS—a clinical condition associated with metabolic complications, including central adiposity, muscle wasting, insulin resistance, hepatic steatosis, and dyslipidemia. The most common etiologies of CS are pituitary adenomas (most frequently), which increase the endogenous production of ACTH, but adrenal hyperplasia or adrenocortical tumours also account for many cases [112,113]. The excess production impairs the feedback to the HPA axis. Additionally, CS may result from excess exposure to exogenous corticosteroids or synthetic GCs, usually from oral administration, but also, less frequently, may occur from topical exposure[114].

Metabolic syndrome (MetS) is a multifactorial condition characterized by a cluster of risk factors including, increased waist circumference, hyperglycaemia, dyslipidemia, hypertension and obesity[115–117]. Many phenotypical and symptomatic similarities have been observed between MetS and CS, leading many to hypothesize that cortisol may be involved in the pathophysiology of MetS[68,118]. The physical Cushingoid features are distinct, with excessive android obesity and very thin extremities. While the wasting at the extremities is a feature that is unique to Cushing's, the excessive abdominal obesity is similar to that of a MetS patient. In the liver, patients with adrenal cortical incidentalomas and CS have reduced HDL and cholesterol levels accompanied with elevated triglycerides, resulting in dyslipidemia[119]. Additionally, elevated cortisol is consistently associated with insulin resistance [120]. It has also been found that type 2 diabetes is associated with variations in 11 $\beta$ -HSD-1 gene expression, indicating increased local activation of GCs in the tissues[121].

In addition to the metabolic consequences, there is also an association between psychological symptoms of depression and anxiety, and central obesity, insulin resistance and cardiovascular morbidities[120,122]. In obese children, symptoms of anxiety and

24

depression correlate with elevated salivary cortisol levels throughout the day[123]. In men, cortisol metabolites were increased with depression and central obesity[124].

The reduced muscle mass in CS patients impairs their exercise capacity and even if exercise is performed, there is an impaired ability to lose weight. Fortunately, the negative metabolic effects of this condition are countered when treated with RU-486, a GR antagonist. It was found that with RU-486, CS patients have significant improvements in metabolic outcomes, such as decreased HbA1c and reduced waist circumference[125].

#### 2.6 Lifestyle Influences on metabolism

Although there are genetic components that contribute to metabolism, environmental factors significantly influence metabolic health and regulation. There are a number of environmental factors that influence this relationship; including, sleep patterns (altered circadian rhythm), temperature, diet and activity. Metabolic homeostasis is achieved through a balance of energy input being met with fuel utilization, so for this reason two of the most influential factors of energy balance are diet (energy input) and physical activity (energy output).

#### i. Diet

In addition to the basic input versus output requirements, macronutrient intake must also balance oxidation[25]; for this reason, dietary choices, in addition to the overall calories, have a significant impact on energy metabolism. Unbalanced diets with significant elevations of a particular macronutrient leads to metabolic aberrations and dysregulation[126]. For example, high fat diets (HFDs) significantly increase adiposity and are a main factor in inducing the development of type 2 diabetes, as seen in various

human and rodent studies[127–129]. Increases in adipose accumulation not only affects adipose metabolism, but also impacts how the body processes other substrates. HFDs impair insulin sensitivity via impairing GLUT4 mRNA and protein content in adipocytes, leading to less glucose uptake and oxidation[130].

Additionally, diets relying predominantly on protein may provide insufficient levels of CHOs, and protein must be converted to glucose in a process termed protein sparing [131,132]. Eating a balanced diet rich in nutrients is recommended to maintain a healthy metabolism.

#### ii. Exercise

Exercise has a major influence on energy substrate metabolism. Changes occur during exercise, but the body also adapts to influence metabolism following the completion of the activity. During exercise, there is an increased metabolic demand for energy to sustain muscle activity, which places the body in a state of energy deficit and stress.

Depending on the type and duration of the activity, the body adjusts its fuel utilization to meet the workload demand. Various studies have examined how fuel selection is manipulated by exercise type and intensity though assessing changes in RER [54,133]. At the onset of a moderate intensity (40-60% VO<sub>2</sub>Max) endurance exercise, an immediate rise can be seen in RER, but as the exercise continues and exceeds approximately 30 minutes, RER decreases, indicating an increase in the reliance on lipid oxidation[54]. While high intensity exercise favours CHO oxidation from blood glucose and muscle glycogen stores, as CHOs yield the most energy (in the form of adenosine triphosphate) per each molecule that is oxidized, the optimal type of exercise to utilize

lipids as the predominant fuel is low-intensity endurance exercise, below 50% of  $VO_2Max[49]$ . In addition to the type of exercise, other factors influence fuel selection with physical activity. For instance, trained athletes have a shift in RER to utilize lipids more readily than non-trained individuals, even at rest [134].

#### iii. Aerobic Exercise and Hormonal Regulation

It is well known that exercise has numerous benefits in improving metabolism, reducing adiposity and increasing muscle mass. These changes are the result of physiological adaptations that occur with activity. Acutely, a bout of exercise is a stressor to the body. Activating the stress response as an adaptable response in order to maintain homeostasis and meet the increased metabolic demand. The stress response triggers the immediate activation of the Autonomic Nervous System (ANS) in what is known as the "fight-or flight" response[135] and a signal is sent down the spinal cord to trigger the release of NE and adrenal glands to release a flux of Epi. The hypothalamus also induces the cascade of signals to also promote the release of GCs from the adrenals[135]. Although there are two major types of exercise, resistance and continuous (aerobic) or a combination of the two, this review will only be focusing on the physiological response for continuous/aerobic forms of exercise.

Both catecholamines and GCs influence metabolism directly, as well as by altering the regulation of other neuroendocrine hormones. Epinephrine, a major catecholamine, has been shown to trigger glycogenolysis in muscle to allow glucose to be used as a fuel[136]. While epinephrine inhibits insulin, it enhances the ability of the muscle to take up plasma glucose through contraction mediated glucose uptake, (insulin-independent)[137]. Following an exercise bout, however, there is also an enhanced

27
sensitivity to insulin that lasts up to 48 hours. This further mediates glucose uptake (insulin-dependent) [138–141]. In addition to these effects, interleukin-6 (IL-6) is increased during exercise from working muscles, partly under the influence of epinephrine. IL-6 is involved in increasing GLUT4 protein content in white adipose tissue following exercise to enhance glucose uptake[142].

Epinephrine is the major hormone involved in initiating the mobilization of free fatty acids to be available to be used as a fuel. During exercise, epinephrine acts on the  $\beta$ -AR to trigger the lipolytic pathway to release NEFAs to the plasma where working muscles are then able to use them as fuel to be oxidized[44]. Contrary to their lipolytic role, epinephrine is also the preferred amine to the  $\alpha$ 2-AR, which promotes anti-lipolytic actions[143]. Additionally, IL-6 indirectly increases lipolysis in glycolytic muscles and various studies have demonstrated that a single bout of continuous exercise reduces intramyocellular lipid content (IMCL) [144].

## iv. Role of GCs in Aerobic Exercise

In a state of exercise, GCs have typically been shown to be quite beneficial in improving exercise performance and assisting in maintaining homeostatic regulation. During exercise, it has been found that rats that received corticosterone took significantly longer to reach exhaustion than those that did not, demonstrating that the corticosterone enhanced the endurance capacity of the rats by increasing the amount of time it took to reach exhaustion[145].

Exercise induces a rise in GCs most significantly when working at high intensities[146]; however, in a resting state, chronically trained individuals have reduced GC levels[147,148]. In addition to the amount of GCs in circulation increasing during

28

exercise, tissues also increase their sensitivity to GCs [149]. In muscles, this may be done to help reduce the inflammatory reaction caused during exercise by reducing cytokine synthesis, thereby limiting the amount of damage at the muscle during exercise[149]. Twenty-four hours following exercise, tissue sensitivity to GCs has been shown to decrease[149–151], which may help in preventing excessive catabolism to muscle that may otherwise be observed with an overload of GCs.

In terms of their role in metabolism with exercise, GCs cause a rise in circulating glucose by increasing glycogenolysis at the liver, while reducing the muscular sensitivity to glucose[152]. These adaptations may be used as a mechanism to prevent hypoglycaemia with exercise from occurring. The presumed role of GCs in lipid metabolism, as cited in various textbooks, is that they are lipolytic to allow NEFAs to be used as a fuel[152,153]. Considering their role in impairing insulin signalling, however, this has not actually been studied *in vivo* during exercise and further research is required to determine if they have alternative acute actions.

#### 2.7 Clinical Relevance/Gaps in the literature

GCs have been prescribed for many years as a potent anti-inflammatory agent, both for acute injuries as well as chronic conditions, such as rheumatoid arthritis and some forms of cancer. Considering the detrimental effects of chronic hypercortisolism, examining the immediate effects further would be useful in helping to understand their specific actions and implications on metabolism. The most curious uncertainty about GCs is the perplexing role they play on lipid metabolism and further investigation is required to better understand their function. Acutely, they are believed to enhance systemic lipolysis as well as NEFA uptake, although this may be due to the associated rise in catecholamines with a stress response. The need to examine the interaction of GCs and exercise is also intriguing. GCs fluctuate during exercise and influence various other hormones, leading to serious alterations in metabolism. This information would be of interest to many athletes that use GCs for injuries, providing insight on their potential influence on athletic performance.

## **3.0 RATIONALE AND OBJECTIVES**

## 3.1 Background and Rationale

Glucocorticoids are naturally occurring steroid hormones that rise in concentration during situations of stress, starvation and exercise. GCs promote insulin resistance and induce epinephrine release from the adrenal medulla[154]. They play a perplexing role in lipid metabolism and may exert pleotropic effects. They are typically stated to be "lipolytic" by most physiological textbooks [153] but the mechanism of action for this effect is somewhat unknown. Elevations in GCs have been shown to be associated with epinephrine and norepinephrine secretion and lower insulin sensitivity, both of which may help facilitate lipolysis [38,155]. Previous research from our lab supports the lipolytic actions of GCs, but only when GCs are elevated long enough to increase the gene transcription of ATGL and/or HSL[10]. It is also apparent in 3T3-L1 cell culture models that GCs induce acute antilipolytic actions, particularly at higher dosages of exposure[12]. This latter point supports the clinical observation that hypercortisolemia is strongly associated with central obesity [156]. Although several studies have examined the chronic effects of glucocorticoids on body adiposity and insulin sensitivity[60,62,81], less is known about their immediate action on adipose tissue metabolism. For this reason, we designed a rodent exercise model to examine the acute role of glucocorticoids in relation to lipid metabolism once activated by a stress response, in this case, exercise. The model will assess molecular and in vivo markers of adipose tissue lipolysis as well as catecholamine and insulin levels following acute GC treatment and hopefully gain insight as to which mechanism plays a more dominant role in lipid regulation.

## 3.2 Purpose

The purpose of this study is to gain insight into the role of glucocorticoids in lipid metabolism and to determine if an acute dose will induce a lipolytic response once activated by exercise. Additionally, this study will examine the extent to which glucocorticoids influence insulin concentration and the phosphorylation of lipolytic enzymes, as well as determining if these relationships are influenced by exercise. The acute effects of glucocorticoids have previously been examined in our lab *in vitro*, this model will assess the role in an *in vivo* setting.

## 3.3 Hypothesis

We hypothesize that acutely elevated levels of GCs (corticosterone) will attenuate the lipolytic responses seen at rest and with moderate exercise.

# THE ACUTE ROLE OF GLUCOCORTICOIDS DURING EXERCISE ON LIPID METABOLISM<sup>1</sup>

## INTRODUCTION

Glucocorticoids (GCs) are hormones that are released from the adrenal medulla at low levels throughout the day and their concentration significantly increases with a stress response[154]. However, in cases with increased stimulation of the adrenal response, circulating levels of GCs are elevated and they disrupt metabolic homeostasis. Despite their known benefits as potent anti-inflammatory agents, they have been proven to cause detrimental effects when chronically elevated, resulting in obesity, hyperglycaemia and insulin resistance. This has been observed in various rodent models in which glucocorticoids are increased exogenously, or in human studies of hypercortisolemia, where GCs were either given as treatment, or were naturally elevated, such as in the medical condition, Cushing's syndrome.

With regard to lipid metabolism, GCs are typically stated to be "lipolytic" in most physiological textbooks [153], in that they are believed to increase the flux of substrates, yet the mechanism of action for this supposed effect is unknown. Elevations in GCs have been shown to be associated with increased catecholamine secretion and reduced insulin sensitivity, which are potential mechanisms in which they may facilitate lipolysis [38,155]. Cell culture studies using 3T3-L1 cells support the lipolytic actions of GCs, but

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Aoibhe Pasieka<sup>1</sup>, Emily Dunford<sup>1</sup>, Deanna Porras<sup>1</sup>, Michael Riddell<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>School of Kinesiology and Health Science, Faculty of Health, Muscle Health Research Center, York University, 4700 Keele Street, Toronto, ON, Canada, M3J 1P3 **Key terms**: Adipose, Glucocorticoids, Lipolysis, Exercise, Metabolism, Non-esterified fatty acids

this is only the case when elevated long enough to increase the gene transcription of ATGL and/or HSL[157]. It is, however, also apparent in these models that GCs induce acute antilipolytic actions, particularly at higher dosages of exposure[12]. This latter finding is more supportive of the clinical manifestations of chronic hypercortisolemia and its association with central obesity[156]. Several studies have demonstrated that chronically elevated glucocorticoids have profound effects on increasing body adiposity while impairing insulin sensitivity[158], However, their immediate actions on lipid metabolism have not been specifically demonstrated *in vivo*. For this reason, we designed a rodent exercise model to examine the acute role of glucocorticoids in relation to lipid metabolism once activated by a stress response—in this case, exercise. The model was designed to assess molecular and *in vivo* markers of adipose tissue lipolysis, as well as glycemic markers following acute GC treatment with the objective of hopefully gaining a better understanding of lipid regulation with exercise.

## **METHODS**

#### **Ethics Statement**

The following study was been approved by the York University Animal Care Committee (*Protocol* # 2015-3) and was carried out in accordance with the regulations of the Canadian Council for Animal Care guidelines.

## **Experimental Design**

Sixty male Wistar rats (Charles River Laboratory, approximately 225-250 grams upon arrival) were used in this study. Rats were acclimated to the York University vivaria for one week after arrival and were housed in a humidity and temperature controlled room in a 12 hour : 12 hour light-dark cycle. All animals had access to a standard chow ad libitum diet. Following the one-week acclimation, rats were individually housed and randomly assigned to one of 4 treatment groups. A schematic of this protocol is represented in Fig. 1.1. Animals were either assigned to an exercising or sedentary protocol, and from here they were further separated to receive either Vehicle (25% DMSO in saline), or Corticosterone (25 mg/kg body weight in 25% DMSO in saline). All groups were acclimated to running treadmills for 3 days within a one-week period. Intensity and duration were increased in each acclimation session. On the first day of acclimation, rats ran for 10 minutes at a pace of 10 meters/minute with 0% incline. On the second day, the speed was increased to 20 meters/minute with a 0% incline for 10 minutes. On the final acclimation day, they ran for 20 minutes at 20 meters/minute with 0% incline.

After the one-week acclimation, the experimental protocol commenced (Fig. 1.2). Approximately 4 animals underwent the experimental protocol each day with two overlapping at a time. Experiments were performed in the morning when basal corticosterone levels were lowest. For this protocol, each animal received a saphenous blood draw, which was collected as a pre-treatment measure (t = -25min) and at this time, blood glucose was also measured. Approximately 15 minutes following this, animals received an intraperitoneal (i.p.) injection of their treatment (t = -15 min), either the vehicle solution, or corticosterone. Immediately following the injection, animals were placed in Comprehensive Lab Animal Monitoring System (CLAMS) treadmills, which allowed the measurement of the respiratory exchange ratio (RER) for each animal. A period of 15 minutes elapsed before turning on the treadmills in order to establish a stable

basal reading of ventilation and RER. Once this equilibration period was complete (t = 0 min), the treadmills were turned on for the exercise groups to 20m/min, 0% incline, and remained on for 45 minutes. The sedentary animals remained in the CLAMS treadmills for this 45-minute period, but the running belt was turned off. For both groups, RER was measured throughout.

Immediately after the 45-minute exercise (or 45 minute sedentary period), animals were removed from the treadmills and each received a tail prick in order to measure post-treatment blood glucose. Directly following this, animals were placed in an induction box filled with isoflourane and oxygen, which was used as an anaesthetic. Once fully unconscious, animals were euthanized and the renal vein was cut to allow for the collection of a post-treatment blood sample. Additionally, a fragment of the liver was dissected for additional blood collection from the trunk. Concurrently, tissues (peritoneal adipose depots) were collected and immediately placed in microtubes and put into liquid nitrogen. Tissues and plasma samples were then transferred to storage at -80°C to be preserved for future assays.

## **Drug Preparation**

Our vehicle was prepared as a stock solution of 25% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) in saline. Corticosterone (Sigma-Aldrich, Cat # C2505) was also prepared in a stock solution, where the corticosterone was dissolved into the vehicle (0.005 mg/ml) and sonicated immediately before use. Each animal in this group received 25mg/kg body weight, which was considered to be a moderately high yet safe dose that had been previously published in other studies [159,160].

## **Plasma Analyses**

Plasma was collected in potassium-coated EDTA microvette capillary tubes (Sarstedt, Cat #16.444.100). Blood was collected from the saphenous vein for the pretreatment blood draw and during euthanization from the renal vein for the post-treatment measures. Immediately after collection, 10µL of Trasylol was added as a proteinase inhibitor before samples were placed on ice. Samples were then centrifuged for 5 minutes at 15,000 rpm before plasma was pipetted out into polyethylene tubes. Samples were placed back on ice before being transferred to -80°C storage where it remained until used for later analysis. Plasma was used for various analyses including non-esterified fatty acid, glucagon and insulin concentrations, which were assessed using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISAs) (Wako, Cat #999-34691; Mercodia, Cat #10-1281-01; Crystal Chem, Cat #90060) and corticosterone concentration was assessed using a radioimmunoassay (RIA) (MP Biomedicals, cat#07-120103).

## Western Blotting

Radioimmunoprecipitation assay (RIPA) buffer (150mM NaCL, NP-40, sodium deoxycholate, SDS, 50mM Tris base) was supplemented with protease inhibitor cocktail (Sigma-Aldrich, Cat #P8340) and phosphatase inhibitor cocktail (Sigma-Aldrich, Cat #P0044). The solution was added to adipose tissue samples (approximately 50mg) at a concentration of 10mL/mg. Samples were homogenized using a D2400 Homogenizer (Diamed) for 6 cycles of 45 seconds. Samples were then placed on ice for 10 minutes and then centrifuged at -4°C for 10 minutes at 14,000 rpm. Supernatant was pipetted out and transferred to microtubes. Protein concentrations were determined using a commercially

available bicinchoninic acid assay (BCA) and samples were stored at -80°C until later use.

Thirty micrograms of protein from the various fat depots was run on a 10% SDSpage gel before being transferred to a polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membrane (Bio-Rad, Canada). Membranes were then blocked for 1 hour at room temperature in 5% skim milk dissolved in Tris-buffered saline with Tween 20 (TBST). Next, membranes were left to incubate in their primary antibody at a concentration of 1/1000 (pHSL, tHSL, Perilipin-A, PKA-substrate indicator) or 1/10,000 (beta-actin) overnight at 4°C. The next morning, the primary antibody was removed and membranes were washed in TBST for 3 cycles of 10 minutes. Membranes were then incubated in their secondary antibody for 1 hour at room temperature. The secondary antibodies used were goat-anti-mouse when beta-actin was the primary antibody (1:10,000, ab6789, Abcam, Cat #ab6789), or goatanti-rabbit for all other primary antibodies (1:10,000, Abcam Cat #ab6721). Secondary antibodies were diluted into in the 5% skim milk in TBST. Membranes were again washed in TBST for 3 cycles of ten minutes. All membranes were images using a Kodak In vivo FX Pro imager, with Carestream used as the molecular imaging software.

## Statistical Analyses

All data was represented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation. Two-way ANOVA analyses were used to compare differences between groups and a cut off of p<0.05 was considered to be significant. For significant values, Tukey's post-hoc test was used to determine differences between specific groups (treatments and activity).



**Figure 1.1 – Animal treatment groups.** Animals were randomly divided into one of 4 groups. The first two groups were sedentary and received either vehicle (SV) (25% DMSO in saline) or corticosterone (SC) (25 mg/kg). The other animals were exercisers and were also subdivided to receive either vehicle (EV) (25% DMSO in saline) or corticosterone (EC) (25 mg/kg).



**Figure 1.2** – **Acclimation protocol to treadmills.** All animals (exercise and sedentary groups) were acclimated to the treadmills in the week leading up to the day of experiments in order for them to be able to adequately perform the exercise on the day of experiment. On day 1, animals exercised at a pace of 10 m/min for 10 minutes. They had a rest day and on day 3 were acclimated again, but the speed was increased to 20 m/min. This exercise lasted for 20 minutes. Animals had an additional rest day before performing their final acclimation training on day 5, where they exercised at 20 m/min for 30 minutes.



**Figure 1.3 – Experimental protocol.** Animals underwent a saphenous blood draw at t = -25 min. At t = -15 min, animals received an i.p. injection of their treatment. Animals were immediately placed inside the metabolic treadmills. At t = 0 min, after a basal RER value was established, exercise commenced for EV and EC groups. At this time, SV and SC animals remained on the inactive treadmills with them turned off. At t = +45 min, animals were euthanized and tissues and post-treatment blood samples were collected.

## RESULTS

*Plasma corticosterone is significantly increased one hour following corticosterone injection.* (Fig. 2) In order to test our model and ensure that our corticosterone was sufficiently increased in our groups, a RIA kit was used to measure plasma corticosterone concentrations. Plasma corticosterone concentration was elevated in the groups that received an i.p. injection of corticosterone compared to vehicle controls. There was a main effect of corticosterone treatment to increase plasma corticosterone levels (p<0.0001), as well as an interaction between corticosterone treatment and activity (p<0.0001). Corticosterone trended towards being significantly greater than vehicle in a sedentary state (350.48 ± 63.56 ng/mL, to 600.01 ± 43.59 ng/mL, p = 0.052) and when exercising EC was significantly greater than the EV control (376.54 ± 43.51 ng/mL , 748.01 ± 115.63 ng/mL , p = 0.0005).

*Corticosterone fluctuates in RER at rest, but does not have an effect with exercise.* (Fig. 3) In the sedentary groups, there was a significant interaction between time and treatment (p = 0.0033) in RER values, but no main effect of treatment or time. While the sedentary group did not fluctuate much throughout the duration of the experiment, the corticosterone group had an initial rise in RER up until t = +10 min, before it proceeded to decline, indicating a shift towards favouring lipid oxidation, which continued until the end of the experiment (t = +45 min). There was no significant interaction between treatment and time in the exercising groups; however, there was a significant effect of time (p<0.0001). Both vehicle and corticosterone-treated animals had a comparable rise in RER after exercise commenced, then gradually declined for the remainder of the exercise.

*Non-esterified fatty acid concentration is not significantly altered after 1 hour of corticosterone treatment.* (Fig. 4) As a primary measure of lipolysis, an ELISA kit was used to measure NEFA concentration before animals received treatment (t = -25 minutes), as measured from the saphenous vein, as well as at t = +45 minutes, with blood collected from the trunk during euthanization. Pre-treatment values were used to express a range of normal NEFA concentrations for healthy controls. There were no differences in NEFA concentrations between sedentary and exercising groups, additionally, there was no significant effect of corticosterone treatment.

*Peritoneal lipolytic enzyme activity in corticosterone treated animals is affected by activity.* (Fig. 5) Western blot analyses were performed on the peritoneal fat depot to determine the activity of the major lipolytic enzymes in the fat pad. All measurements were analyzed using tissues collected one hour following corticosterone treatment (t = +45 minutes). Phosphorylated HSL was made relative to total HSL in order to get a measure of its activity and a phosphorylated PKA substrate-indicating antibody was made relative to total perilipin in order to assess perilipin activity. All samples are represented as a fold change from the control (SV) on the gel they were run on. Both HSL and perilipin activity were not significantly different from the sedentary control (SV). However, perilipin activity in the SC was significantly increased compared to the EC group (p = 0.0469).

Blood glucose is not altered with 1 hour of corticosterone treatment, but rises with a 45-minute exercise. In order to determine if corticosterone significantly alters blood glucose, blood was collected from the saphenous vein prior to injection at t = -25 minutes (pre-treatment values were used to express a range of normal glycemic concentrations for

healthy controls, indicated as grey shaded area, Fig. 6.1). Additionally, blood glucose was measured by a tail prick at t = +45 minutes. Corticosterone did not alter blood glucose relative to vehicle one hour following injection. It did, however, significantly rise with exercise for both treatment groups (SV;  $6.82 \pm 0.70$ , SC;  $6.08 \pm 0.69$ , EV;  $10.3 \pm 1.57$ , EC;  $10.8 \pm 1.27$ , p < 0.0001).

## *Plasma insulin concentration is not significantly altered with corticosterone treatment or 45 minutes of exercise.* (Fig. 6.2) GCs are consistently associated with the development of insulin resistance with chronic exposure, but their immediate interactions have not yet been examined. No significant different occurred between any of the groups. All insulin values were measured using plasma from trunk blood (t = +45 minutes). Pretreatment values were used to express a range of normal insulin concentrations for healthy controls, as indicated by the grey shaded area.

*Plasma glucagon increases with corticosterone treatment at rest, but no difference in exercising animals.* (Fig. 6.3) The rapid effects of glucocorticoids on glucagon are unknown, so to examine this an ELISA kit was used to assess plasma glucagon measurements. There was a main effect of treatment (p = 0.0032), but not activity. In a sedentary state, plasma glucagon in corticosterone treated animals was approximately 3fold higher than sedentary controls (SV;  $20.23 \pm 3.81$ , SC;  $53.45 \pm 8.65$  pmol/L, p <0.0226). There were no detectable changes between the corticosterone versus vehicle treatment in exercising animals.

## DISCUSSION

Glucocorticoids are consistently considered to be lipolytic due to their ability to increase the expression of lipolytic enzymes. Acute models of hypercortisolemia have shown that GCs induce lipolysis in isolated adipocytes, in rodents and in humans, yet taken together with the increased adiposity that occurs with hypercortisolemia or CS patients, makes the picture less clear. Additionally, it has also been found that CS patients have reduced NEFA turnover compared to controls[94]. Also, while some studies have found conflicting data, these were not found to be significant[95]. Currently, in vivo studies examining the rapid, non-genomic effects of GCs are lacking in vivo. Recent work in cell culture models indicate that it is possible that GCs initially induce antilipolytic effects after as little as 30 minutes to one hour, as indicated by a reduction in glycerol release with corticosterone treated 3T3-L1 cells[12]. In another model, DEX treatment did not increase free fatty acid release in isolated adipocytes, while it did when examining the entire fat pad[91]. For this reason, we designed our model to determine if the same response would be seen in vivo. Our treatment successfully altered the amount of circulating corticosterone between groups (Fig. 2). When comparing our sedentary groups, there was more fluctuation with corticosterone treatment in RER response. GC treated animals had an initial rise in RER up until t = +10 min, before shifting towards a decrease in RER until the end of the experiment (Fig. 3A). This shift towards a decrease in RER indicates a favouring of lipid oxidation over CHO utilization[56]. This drop in RER did not reach significance when compared to the SV, but it would be beneficial to examine determine if this group would reach significance after increasing the number of subjects. When examining NEFA concentrations, however, there was no change 1 hour

following corticosterone injection (Fig. 4). Considering that this was a static measurement of assessing NEFA content, it is possible that the flux of NEFAs is altered with corticosterone, but is perhaps matched by increases in oxidation, maintaining the plasma NEFA content comparable to controls. Despite this, there was an increase in perilipin (but not HSL) activity in the SC compared to the EC group, appearing to have an increased phosphorylation in the peritonenal adipose tissue. It is important to note, however, that this trend did not reach significance when compared to the SV group. Previously, it has been reported that it requires 4-6 hours before seeing the effects of GCs, due to the delay required to see any receptor mediated genomic changes[11,42]. However, this trend would suggest a possible immediate non-genomic response to increased lipolysis by enhancing lipolytic enzyme phosphorylation. It is still unclear, however, if these changes were a direct response to increased GCs, or if they were an indirect effect of other hormones that may have altered regulation by GCs. Catecholamines, for example, is often associated with a rise in GCs as they are both released as part of the stress response [3]. Epinephrine and norepinephrine are known to have more immediate effects than GCs. Exercise studies comparing healthy controls to paraplegic individuals (impaired SNS activity) have demonstrated that catecholamine release may be the driving inducer of a lipolytic response with exercise[161]. This may not give the full picture though; treatment with propranerol, a  $\beta$ -AR blocker, only partially inhibits lipolysis during exercise[162]. Further investigation into the specific mechanisms involved in this increase in lipolytic action during exercise is still required.

As exercise is marked by a sharp increase in metabolic demand, it places the body in a state of stress. A rise in fuel mobilization occurs in order to meet these demands. For decades, it has generally been accepted that GCs induce a rise in FFAs during exercise[13,152], however, no study has objectively measured this and any increases in NEFAs or glucose may be due to the immediate actions of catecholamines with exercise. Our data indicates that there is no reason to believe that corticosterone is lipolytic in an acute state of exercise. No differences in RER were observed when comparing EV to EC during exercise (Fig. 3B). A trend towards an initially reduced RER with corticosterone treatment was observed. After further examination of all baseline RER points (Fig. S3.0), it was determined that there was an effect of both treatment and time, but there were no specific time points in which the groups different. Additionally, there were no significant differences between plasma NEFA concentrations of EV versus EC animals (Fig. 4). Although we expected a rise in NEFAs with exercise compared to the sedentary controls, our results indicated no change between the groups. This is potentially due to the fact that any increase in mobilization of NEFAs may have been matched by oxidized in the working muscles, thereby maintaining plasma levels at a normal volume. Looking at the lipolytic activity of the adipose tissue further confirms that enhanced lipolysis is not occurring with the moderate to high dosage of corticosterone treatment (20mg/kg) in this time frame. If anything, we observed that exercise is impairing any lipolytic activity that may have been induced by corticosterone treatment at rest, as indicated by significantly reduced PLIN phosphorylation in the EC versus SC group. This change was not observed when analyzing HSL activity. When compared to the control exercisers (EV), there were no differences in phosphorylation of either PLIN or HSL, indicating that any effects of corticosterone may be masked with exercise. As expected, there was an effect of exercise compared to the sedentary vehicle group to increase lipolytic enzyme activity.

Consistently GCs are associated with an increase in hyperglycaemia. Chronic models of hypercortisolemia result in increased fasting blood glucose and insulin resistance. It has previously been reported that a 3-day treatment of dexamethasone (2mg/day) in humans results in a dramatic increase (55-110%) in glucagon secretion[163] and rodent models have determined that these adaptations are likely due to changes in alpha cell mass[79]. Once again, less data is available on the immediate effects of GCs, specifically with exercise. Our data demonstrated that short-term treatment with GCs had no effect on blood glucose, although there was an increase with exercise (Fig. 6.1). Plasma insulin was unaffected by corticosterone treatment and surprisingly also unaffected by exercise (Fig. 6.2). Normally, in rodents and in humans, insulin levels drop with prolonged exercise while counter-regulatory hormone levels rise [164,165]. In the sedentary groups, EC increased glucagon compared to EV, but no differences were observed in glucagon between the exercise groups. This data indicates that it is plausible that GCs increase blood glucose concentrations through inducing a rise in glucagon at rest (Fig. 6.3), but it is possible that our protocol did not allow for glucagon to stimulate and increase in blood glucose, and perhaps we would seen this increase if we increased our protocol to measure up to t = +120 minutes. According to our RER data, the SC at the end of the experiment appeared to be relying more heavily on FFA oxidation, so it is not likely that enhanced oxidation of the CHOs are responsible for the lack of changes observed in BG at rest.

Taken all together, it is likely that corticosterone may induce immediate lipolytic actions at rest. Our data determined that corticosterone treated animals had more variability in RER when sedentary, potentially mediated through altered lipolytic enzyme

47

activity. It may also increase glycaemia, but these changes may take longer to occur, considering that plasma glucagon, but not blood glucose concentrations were increased. In an acute exercise state, it appears that there are no differences in lipolytic actions with GC treatment, considering that no differences were observed in oxidation after exercise between EV and EC and there was reduced PLIN activity in EC compared to SC. Further examination at additional time points would be beneficial to further understand the immediate actions of GCs.

## **FIGURES**







**Figure 3.0; Respiratory exchange ratio;** hashed box indicates exercise period. Corticosterone animals are indicated with black symbols, white symbols indicate vehicle. A) RER in sedentary animals. There was a significant interaction between treatment and time (p = 0.0033), but no main effect of treatment. B) RER with exercise. No effect of treatment or interaction between treatment and time occurred, but there was a significant effect of time (p<0.0001). SV, n = 6, SC, n = 4, EV, n = 10, EC, n = 10.



**Figure 4.0. Plasma Non-esterified fatty acid content**. White box indicates vehicle treatment, shaded boxes indicate corticosterone. The light grey box denotes the range of the pre-treatment average  $\pm$  standard deviation. Pre-treatment plasma samples were collected via saphenous vein, post-treatment were collected from the trunk blood under isoflurane. There were no significant effects of treatment or activity. SV, n = 7; SC, n = 13; EV, n = 10; EC, n = 10.



Figure 5.1. Lipolytic enzyme measures; Hormone sensitive lipase (HSL) Activity. Lipolytic enzyme activities as measured by western blot. HSL activity was measured using a phosphorylated HSL antibody relative to total HSL in the peritoneal fat depot. White boxes indicate vehicle treatment, while shaded boxes indicate corticosterone. All samples are made relative to the sedentary control on the gel they were run on. There were no significant effects of treatment or activity. SV, n = 6; SC, n = 8; EV, n = 10; EC, n = 10.



**Figure 5.2. Lipolytic enzyme measures; Perilipin Activity.** Lipolytic enzyme activities as measured by western blot. Perilipin activity was measured using a phosphorylated PKA substrate indicator relative to total Perilipin in the peritoneal fat depot. White boxes indicate vehicle treatment, while shaded boxes indicate corticosterone. All samples are made relative to the sedentary control on the gel they were run on. SC was significantly different from EC (p = 0.047). SV, n = 6; SC, n = 8; EV, n = 10; EC, n = 10.



**Figure 6.1; Measures of Glycaemia - blood glucose concentrations**. White box indicates vehicle treatment, shaded boxes indicate corticosterone. The light grey box denotes a normal blood glucose range, derived of the pre-treatment average  $\pm$  standard deviation. Pre-treatment blood samples were measured during a blood draw from the saphenous vein and post-treatment were measured via tail-prick. There was significant effect of exercise, but not treatment (p<0.0001). SV, n = 7; SC, n = 13; EV, n = 7; EC, n = 9.



Figure 6.2. Measures of Glycaemia - plasma insulin concentrations. White box indicates vehicle treatment, shaded boxes indicate corticosterone. The light grey box denotes the range of the pre-treatment average  $\pm$  standard deviation. Pre-treatment plasma samples were collected via saphenous vein, post-treatment were collected from the trunk blood under isoflurane. There were no significant effects of treatment or activity. SV, n = 7; SC, n = 13; EV, n = 8; EC, n = 8.



**Figure 6.3. Measures of Glycaemia - plasma glucagon concentration**. White box indicates vehicle treatment, shaded boxes indicate corticosterone. The light grey box denotes the range of the pre-treatment average  $\pm$  standard deviation. Pre-treatment plasma samples were collected via saphenous vein, post-treatment were collected from the trunk blood under isoflurane. There was a significant effect of treatment (p = 0.0032), but not activity. SV was significantly lower than SC (p = 0.0226). SV, n = 7; SC, n = 13; EV, n = 8; EC, n = 8.

## 5.0 SUMMARY, LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Our findings indicate that it would be beneficial to take a closer examination at additional time points. For instance, tissue analysis was only taken one hour following treatment (t = +45 minutes), but further investigation is warranted at 25 minutes following injection to determine if there are any immediate anti-lipolytic actions occurring, as evidenced by the rise in RER, indicating a favouring of CHO oxidation. Additionally, it would be beneficial to carry out this study for another hour (total t = +120 minutes), and see if the trends in RER would continue and any changes would occur in the phosphorylation of lipolytic enzymes or plasma NEFA levels.

As well as this, no initial VO<sub>2</sub>Max test was conducted to determine the exact intensity for each rat. Instead, a running speed that had been previously used in other studies as a light to moderate intensity was chosen[166]. While moderate exercise does not usually alter blood glucose in healthy controls after just 45 minutes of light/moderate activity, intense exercise has been shown to increase glycaemia[167]. Considering that there was an effect of exercise to increase blood glucose in our data, it is possible that these animals were running at a higher intensity than anticipated. For this reason, a preliminary VO<sub>2</sub>Max test would be recommended if this model were to be repeated.

When examining RER, there were some trends towards significant differences between the sedentary groups, such as at t = +10 minutes (p = 0.079). A possible reason we did not find significance is that the sedentary corticosterone group was underpowered (n=4) and the addition of more animals in this group would be beneficial. In Fig, S2.0, we examined the metabolic parameters of only the all animals that we had RER data. All of these graphs followed the same pattern as the graphs examining the full number of subjects for these groups. However, with this smaller n, there was no main effect of corticosterone to influence plasma glucagon (Fig. S2.0C).

While this was a successful model of examining the effects of a rapid increase in corticosterone *in vivo*, one of the most significant limitations of the study was that handling stress may have elicited a stress response in all animals, as indicated by a rise in corticosterone from the pre-treatment value (Fig. 2.0). These animals were not adrenalectomized and the i.p. injection of their treatment may have caused an increase in both corticosterone release, as well as epinephrine. Additionally, we could not prevent the rise in these hormones with exercise.

One of the most primary markers of lipolysis is NEFA release. Although an ELISA kit examining plasma NEFA concentration was performed, this only indicates a static measurement in the plasma. In order to properly examine the dynamics of lipid metabolism, it would be ideal to measure the constant efflux of NEFAs. This may be does by utilizing stable isotopes labelled glycerol or NEFAs, or by measuring the aterio-venous differences in NEFAs with a catheter[168]. Even with this method comes with some limitations; despite the accuracy of measuring flux, the aterio-venous difference can only be measured in subcutaneous tissue and could not provide information on omenal adipose lipolysis. In order to counter this, we used measures of oxidation (RER) and compared them with molecular measures of lipolysis (western blotting of lipolytic enzymes).

Overall, our study suggests it is possible that 1 hour following corticosterone treatment may enhance lipolytic activity and NEFA oxidation. Contrary to many exercise physiology textbooks, it appears that further elevating GCs during exercise does not

58

appear to be mediating any effects on lipolysis. Further research at additional time points and various intensities would be beneficial to gain a better understanding of the immediate actions of GCs.

## 6.0 REFERENCES

1. Peckett, A. J.; Wright, D. C.; Riddell, M. C. The effects of glucocorticoids on adipose tissue lipid metabolism. *Metabolism* **2011**, *60*, 1500–1510.

 Patel, R.; Williams-Dautovich, J.; Cummins, C. L. Minireview: new molecular mediators of glucocorticoid receptor activity in metabolic tissues. *Mol. Endocrinol. Baltim. Md* 2014, 28, 999–1011.

3. Belda, X.; Fuentes, S.; Daviu, N.; Nadal, R.; Armario, A. Stress-induced sensitization: the hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal axis and beyond. *Stress* **2015**, *18*, 269–279.

4. DeSantis, A. S.; Adam, E. K.; Doane, L. D.; Mineka, S.; Zinbarg, R. E.; Craske, M. G. Racial/Ethnic Differences in Cortisol Diurnal Rhythms in a Community Sample of Adolescents. *J. Adolesc. Health* **2007**, *41*, 3–13.

5. Silva, J. A. P. D.; Jacobs, J. W. G.; Kirwan, J. R.; Boers, M.; Saag, K. G.; Inês, L. B. S.; Koning, E. J. P. de; Buttgereit, F.; Cutolo, M.; Capell, H.; Rau, R.; Bijlsma, J. W. J. Safety of low dose glucocorticoid treatment in rheumatoid arthritis: published evidence and prospective trial data. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* **2006**, *65*, 285–293.

D'souza, A. M.; Beaudry, J. L.; Szigiato, A. A.; Trumble, S. J.; Snook, L. A.; Bonen, A.;
 Giacca, A.; Riddell, M. C. Consumption of a high-fat diet rapidly exacerbates the
 development of fatty liver disease that occurs with chronically elevated
 glucocorticoids. *Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol.* 2012, *302*, G850–863.
 Lee, M.-J.; Pramyothin, P.; Karastergiou, K.; Fried, S. K. Deconstructing the roles of
 glucocorticoids in adipose tissue biology and the development of central obesity.

Biochim. Biophys. Acta 2014, 1842, 473–481.

8. Hazlehurst, J. M.; Gathercole, L. L.; Nasiri, M.; Armstrong, M. J.; Borrows, S.; Yu, J.; Wagenmakers, A. J. M.; Stewart, P. M.; Tomlinson, J. W. Glucocorticoids fail to cause insulin resistance in human subcutaneous adipose tissue in vivo. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* **2013**, *98*, 1631–1640.

9. Tarantino, G.; Finelli, C. Pathogenesis of hepatic steatosis: the link between hypercortisolism and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *World J. Gastroenterol.* **2013**, *19*, 6735–6743.

 Campbell, J. E.; Peckett, A. J.; D'souza, A. M.; Hawke, T. J.; Riddell, M. C. Adipogenic and lipolytic effects of chronic glucocorticoid exposure. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 2011, *300*, C198–209.

11. Xu, C.; He, J.; Jiang, H.; Zu, L.; Zhai, W.; Pu, S.; Xu, G. Direct Effect of Glucocorticoids on Lipolysis in Adipocytes. *Mol. Endocrinol.* **2009**, *23*, 1161–1170.

12. Peckett, A. Acute antilipolytic effects of corticosterone in adipocytes. Masters Thesis Dissertation, York University: Toronto, 2011.

13. Powers, S. K.; Howley, E. T. *Exercise physiology: theory and application to fitness and performance*; Ninth edition.; McGraw-Hill Education: New York, NY, 2015.

14. Lorendeau, D.; Christen, S.; Rinaldi, G.; Fendt, S.-M. Metabolic control of signalling pathways and metabolic auto-regulation. *Biol. Cell* **2015**, *107*, 251–272.

15. Rayssiguier, Y.; Gueux, E.; Nowacki, W.; Rock, E.; Mazur, A. High fructose consumption combined with low dietary magnesium intake may increase the incidence of the metabolic syndrome by inducing inflammation. *Magnes. Res.* **2006**, *19*, 237–243.

16. Müller, M. J.; Enderle, J.; Pourhassan, M.; Braun, W.; Eggeling, B.; Lagerpusch, M.; Glüer, C.-C.; Kehayias, J. J.; Kiosz, D.; Bosy-Westphal, A. Metabolic adaptation to caloric restriction and subsequent refeeding: the Minnesota Starvation Experiment revisited. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* **2015**, *102*, 807–819.

17. Horvath, T. L.; Stachenfeld, N. S.; Diano, S. A Temperature Hypothesis of Hypothalamus-Driven Obesity. *Yale J. Biol. Med.* **2014**, *87*, 149–158.

18. Ge, R.-L.; Simonson, T. S.; Gordeuk, V.; Prchal, J. T.; McClain, D. A. Metabolic aspects of high-altitude adaptation in Tibetans. *Exp. Physiol.* 2015, *100*, 1247–1255.
19. Hu, F.; Liu, F. Targeting tissue-specific metabolic signaling pathways in aging: the promise and limitations. *Protein Cell* 2014, *5*, 21–35.

20. Djouadi, F.; Weinheimer, C. J.; Saffitz, J. E.; Pitchford, C.; Bastin, J.; Gonzalez, F. J.; Kelly, D. P. A gender-related defect in lipid metabolism and glucose homeostasis in peroxisome proliferator- activated receptor alpha- deficient mice. *J. Clin. Invest.* **1998**, *102*, 1083–1091.

21. Kochhar, S.; Jacobs, D. M.; Ramadan, Z.; Berruex, F.; Fuerholz, A.; Fay, L. B. Probing gender-specific metabolism differences in humans by nuclear magnetic resonance-based metabonomics. *Anal. Biochem.* **2006**, *352*, 274–281.

22. Saltiel, A. R.; Kahn, C. R. Insulin signalling and the regulation of glucose and lipid metabolism. *Nature* **2001**, *414*, 799–806.

23. Saltiel, A. R. Insulin Signaling in the Control of Glucose and Lipid Homeostasis. *Handb. Exp. Pharmacol.* **2016**, *233*, 51–71.

24. Lund, S.; Holman, G. D.; Schmitz, O.; Pedersen, O. Contraction stimulates translocation of glucose transporter GLUT4 in skeletal muscle through a mechanism distinct from that of insulin. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **1995**, *92*, 5817–5821.

25. Galgani, J.; Ravussin, E. Energy metabolism, fuel selection and body weight regulation. *Int. J. Obes. 2005* **2008**, *32*, S109–S119.

26. Radziuk, J.; Pye, S. Hepatic glucose uptake, gluconeogenesis and the regulation of glycogen synthesis. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* **2001**, *17*, 250–272.

27. Iatropoulos, M.; Williams, G. The function and pathology of brown adipose tissue in animals and humans. *J. Toxicol. Pathol.* **2004**, *17*, 147–153.

28. Zhou, Y.-R.; Song, J.-G. The immune function of adipose tissue. *Prog. Biochem. Biophys.* **2004**, *31*, 679–683.

29. de Guia, R. M.; Herzig, S. How Do Glucocorticoids Regulate Lipid Metabolism? *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* **2015**, *872*, 127–144.

30. Gooley, J. J.; Chua, E. C.-P. Diurnal regulation of lipid metabolism and applications of circadian lipidomics. *J. Genet. Genomics Yi Chuan Xue Bao* **2014**, *41*, 231–250.

31. Cannon, B.; Nedergaard, J. Brown Adipose Tissue: Function and Physiological Significance. *Physiol. Rev.* **2004**, *84*, 277–359.

32. Lass, A.; Zimmermann, R.; Oberer, M.; Zechner, R. Lipolysis - a highly regulated multi-enzyme complex mediates the catabolism of cellular fat stores. *Prog. Lipid Res.* **2011**, *50*, 14–27.

33. Kersten, S. Mechanisms of nutritional and hormonal regulation of lipogenesis. *EMBO Rep.* **2001**, *2*, 282–286.
34. Macfarlane, D. P.; Forbes, S.; Walker, B. R. Glucocorticoids and fatty acid metabolism in humans: fuelling fat redistribution in the metabolic syndrome. *J. Endocrinol.* **2008**, *197*, 189–204.

35. Jocken, J. W. E.; Blaak, E. E. Catecholamine-induced lipolysis in adipose tissue and skeletal muscle in obesity. *Physiol. Behav.* **2008**, *94*, 219–230.

36. Langin, D. Adipose tissue lipolysis as a metabolic pathway to define pharmacological strategies against obesity and the metabolic syndrome. *Pharmacol. Res.* **2006**, *53*, 482–491.

37. Cahova, M.; Palenickova, E.; Papackova, Z.; Dankova, H.; Skop, V.; Kazdova, L. Epinephrine-dependent control of glucose metabolism in white adipose tissue: the role of α- and β-adrenergic signalling. *Exp. Biol. Med. Maywood NJ* **2012**, *237*, 211– 218.

38. Nielsen, T. S.; Jessen, N.; Jørgensen, J. O. L.; Møller, N.; Lund, S. Dissecting adipose tissue lipolysis: molecular regulation and implications for metabolic disease. *J. Mol. Endocrinol.* **2014**, *52*, R199–222.

39. Shen, W.-J.; Patel, S.; Miyoshi, H.; Greenberg, A. S.; Kraemer, F. B. Functional interaction of hormone-sensitive lipase and perilipin in lipolysis. *J. Lipid Res.* **2009**, *50*, 2306–2313.

40. He, J.; Jiang, H.; Tansey, J. T.; Tang, C.; Pu, S.; Xu, G. Calyculin and okadaic acid promote perilipin phosphorylation and increase lipolysis in primary rat adipocytes. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA - Mol. Cell Biol. Lipids* **2006**, *1761*, 247–255.

41. Holm, C. Molecular mechanisms regulating hormone-sensitive lipase and lipolysis. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* **2003**, *31*, 1120–1124.

42. Frühbeck, G.; Méndez-Giménez, L.; Fernández-Formoso, J.-A.; Fernández, S.;
Rodríguez, A. Regulation of adipocyte lipolysis. *Nutr. Res. Rev.* 2014, *27*, 63–93.
43. Jaworski, K.; Sarkadi-Nagy, E.; Duncan, R. E.; Ahmadian, M.; Sul, H. S. Regulation of triglyceride metabolism. IV. Hormonal regulation of lipolysis in adipose tissue. *Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol.* 2007, *293*, G1–4.

44. Stich, V.; Glisezinski, I. de; Crampes, F.; Suljkovicova, H.; Galitzky, J.; Riviere, D.; Hejnova, J.; Lafontan, M.; Berlan, M. Activation of antilipolytic α2-adrenergic receptors by epinephrine during exercise in human adipose tissue. *Am. J. Physiol.* -*Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* **1999**, *277*, R1076–R1083.

45. Lladó, I.; Rodríguez-Cuenca, S.; Pujol, E.; Monjo, M.; Estrany, M. E.; Roca, P.; Palou, A. Gender effects on adrenergic receptor expression and lipolysis in white adipose tissue of rats. *Obes. Res.* **2002**, *10*, 296–305.

46. Valet, P.; Grujic, D.; Wade, J.; Ito, M.; Zingaretti, M. C.; Soloveva, V.; Ross, S. R.; Graves, R. A.; Cinti, S.; Lafontan, M.; Lowell, B. B. Expression of human alpha 2adrenergic receptors in adipose tissue of beta 3-adrenergic receptor-deficient mice promotes diet-induced obesity. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2000**, *275*, 34797–34802.

47. Wahrenberg, H.; Engfeldt, P.; Bolinder, J.; Arner, P. Acute adaptation in adrenergic control of lipolysis during physical exercise in humans. *Am. J. Physiol.* **1987**, *253*, E383–390.

48. Spitzer, J. J. Application of tracers in studying free fatty acid metabolism of various organs in vivo. *Fed. Proc.* **1975**, *34*, 2242–2245.

49. Brooks, G. A. Mammalian fuel utilization during sustained exercise. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B Biochem. Mol. Biol.* **1998**, *120*, 89–107.

50. Guo, Z.; Jensen, M. D. Intramuscular fatty acid metabolism evaluated with stable isotopic tracers. *J. Appl. Physiol. Bethesda Md* 1985 **1998**, *84*, 1674–1679.

51. Borghouts, L. B.; Wagenmakers, A. J. M.; Goyens, P. L. L.; Keizer, H. A. Substrate utilization in non-obese Type II diabetic patients at rest and during exercise. *Clin. Sci. Lond. Engl. 1979* **2002**, *103*, 559–566.

52. Du, S.; Xia, F.; Xu, X.; Zhang, H.; Zhu, C.; Lu, Y. Trace glucose fluxes in individuals with prediabetes using stable isotopes. *Chin. Med. J. (Engl.)* **2014**, *127*, 1726–1731.

53. Roepstorff, C.; Steffensen, C. H.; Madsen, M.; Stallknecht, B.; Kanstrup, I.-L.;

Richter, E. A.; Kiens, B. Gender differences in substrate utilization during

submaximal exercise in endurance-trained subjects. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol.

*Metab.* **2002**, *282*, E435–447.

54. Ferrannini, E. The theoretical bases of indirect calorimetry: A review. *Metabolism* **1988**, *37*, 287–301.

55. Arner, P. Insulin resistance in type 2 diabetes: role of fatty acids. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* **2002**, *18 Suppl 2*, S5–9.

56. Gribok, A.; Leger, J. L.; Stevens, M.; Hoyt, R.; Buller, M.; Rumpler, W. Measuring the short-term substrate utilization response to high-carbohydrate and high-fat meals in the whole-body indirect calorimeter. *Physiol. Rep.* **2016**, *4*.

57. Vegiopoulos, A.; Herzig, S. Glucocorticoids, metabolism and metabolic diseases. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* **2007**, *275*, 43–61.

58. Rose, A. J.; Vegiopoulos, A.; Herzig, S. Role of glucocorticoids and the glucocorticoid receptor in metabolism: Insights from genetic manipulations. *J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol.* **2010**, *122*, 10–20.

59. Funder, J. W. Mineralocorticoid receptors: distribution and activation. *Heart Fail. Rev.* **2005**, *10*, 15–22.

60. Radhakutty, A.; Mangelsdorf, B. L.; Drake, S. M.; Samocha-Bonet, D.; Jenkins, A. B.; Heilbronn, L. K.; Smith, M. D.; Thompson, C. H.; Burt, M. G. Effect of acute and chronic glucocorticoid therapy on insulin sensitivity and postprandial vascular function. *Clin. Endocrinol. (Oxf.)* **2015**.

61. *Glucocorticoid Signaling*; Wang, J.-C.; Harris, C., Eds.; Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology; Springer New York: New York, NY, 2015; Vol. 872. 62. DeSchoolmeester, J.; Palming, J.; Persson, T.; Pereira, M. J.; Wallerstedt, E.; Brown, H.; Gill, D.; Renström, F.; Lundgren, M.; Svensson, M. K.; Rees, A.; Eriksson, J. W. Differences between men and women in the regulation of adipose 11β-HSD1 and in its association with adiposity and insulin resistance. *Diabetes Obes. Metab.* **2013**, *15*, 1056–1060.

63. Pereira, C. D.; Azevedo, I.; Monteiro, R.; Martins, M. J. 11β-Hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1: relevance of its modulation in the pathophysiology of obesity, the metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Obes. Metab.*2012, *14*, 869–881.

64. Salehzadeh, F.; Al-Khalili, L.; Kulkarni, S. S.; Wang, M.; Lönnqvist, F.; Krook, A. Glucocorticoid-mediated effects on metabolism are reversed by targeting 11 beta hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1 in human skeletal muscle. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* **2009**, *25*, 250–258.

65. Hadoke, P. W. F.; Kipari, T.; Seckl, J. R.; Chapman, K. E. Modulation of 11β-Hydroxysteroid Dehydrogenase as a Strategy to Reduce Vascular Inflammation. *Curr. Atheroscler. Rep.* **2013**, *15*, 320.

66. de Kloet, E. R.; Karst, H.; Joëls, M. Corticosteroid hormones in the central stress response: Quick-and-slow. *Front. Neuroendocrinol.* **2008**, *29*, 268–272.

67. Odermatt, A.; Nashev, L. G. The glucocorticoid-activating enzyme 11betahydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1 has broad substrate specificity: Physiological

and toxicological considerations. J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 2010, 119, 1–13.

68. Anagnostis, P.; Athyros, V. G.; Tziomalos, K.; Karagiannis, A.; Mikhailidis, D. P. Clinical review: The pathogenetic role of cortisol in the metabolic syndrome: a hypothesis. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* **2009**, *94*, 2692–2701.

69. Pavlatou, M. G.; Vickers, K. C.; Varma, S.; Malek, R.; Sampson, M.; Remaley, A. T.; Gold, P. W.; Skarulis, M. C.; Kino, T. Circulating cortisol-associated signature of glucocorticoid-related gene expression in subcutaneous fat of obese subjects. *Obes. Silver Spring Md* **2013**, *21*, 960–967.

70. Dirlewanger, M.; Schneiter, P. H.; Paquot, N.; Jequier, E.; Rey, V.; Tappy, L. Effects of glucocorticoids on hepatic sensitivity to insulin and glucagon in man. *Clin. Nutr. Edinb. Scotl.* **2000**, *19*, 29–34.

71. Kuo, T.; McQueen, A.; Chen, T.-C.; Wang, J.-C. Regulation of Glucose Homeostasis by Glucocorticoids. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* **2015**, *872*, 99–126.

72. Jitrapakdee, S. Transcription factors and coactivators controlling nutrient and hormonal regulation of hepatic gluconeogenesis. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* **2012**, *44*, 33–45.

73. Burén, J.; Lai, Y. C.; Lundgren, M.; Eriksson, J. W.; Jensen, J. Insulin action and signalling in fat and muscle from dexamethasone-treated rats. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* **2008**, *474*, 91–101.

74. Zhao, J. P.; Bao, J.; Wang, X. J.; Jiao, H. C.; Song, Z. G.; Lin, H. Altered gene and protein expression of glucose transporter1 underlies dexamethasone inhibition of insulin-stimulated glucose uptake in chicken muscles. *J. Anim. Sci.* **2012**, *90*, 4337–4345.

75. Ruzzin, J.; Wagman, A. S.; Jensen, J. Glucocorticoid-induced insulin resistance in skeletal muscles: defects in insulin signalling and the effects of a selective glycogen synthase kinase-3 inhibitor. *Diabetologia* **2005**, *48*, 2119–2130.

76. Venkatesan, N.; Lim, J.; Bouch, C.; Marciano, D.; Davidson, M. B. Dexamethasoneinduced impairment in skeletal muscle glucose transport is not reversed by inhibition of free fatty acid oxidation. *Metabolism* **1996**, *45*, 92–100.

77. Eisenstein, A. Effects of adrenal cortical hormones on carbohydrate, protein, and fat metabolism. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* **1973**, *26*, 113–120.

78. van Raalte, D. H.; Nofrate, V.; Bunck, M. C.; van Iersel, T.; Elassaiss Schaap, J.; Nässander, U. K.; Heine, R. J.; Mari, A.; Dokter, W. H. A.; Diamant, M. Acute and 2week exposure to prednisolone impair different aspects of beta-cell function in healthy men. *Eur. J. Endocrinol.* **2010**, *162*, 729–735.

79. Beaudry, J. L.; D'souza, A. M.; Teich, T.; Tsushima, R.; Riddell, M. C. Exogenous glucocorticoids and a high-fat diet cause severe hyperglycemia and hyperinsulinemia and limit islet glucose responsiveness in young male Sprague-Dawley rats. *Endocrinology* **2013**, *154*, 3197–3208.

80. Motta, K.; Barbosa, A. M.; Bobinski, F.; Boschero, A. C.; Rafacho, A. JNK and IKKβ phosphorylation is reduced by glucocorticoids in adipose tissue from insulin-resistant rats. *J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol.* **2015**, *145*, 1–12.

81. Löwenberg, M.; Tuynman, J.; Scheffer, M.; Verhaar, A.; Vermeulen, L.; van
Deventer, S.; Hommes, D.; Peppelenbosch, M. Kinome analysis reveals nongenomic
glucocorticoid receptor-dependent inhibition of insulin signaling. *Endocrinology*2006, 147, 3555–3562.

82. Burén, J.; Liu, H.-X.; Jensen, J.; Eriksson, J. W. Dexamethasone impairs insulin signalling and glucose transport by depletion of insulin receptor substrate-1, phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and protein kinase B in primary cultured rat adipocytes. *Eur. J. Endocrinol. Eur. Fed. Endocr. Soc.* **2002**, *146*, 419–429.

83. Castro, R. B.; Longui, C. A.; Faria, C. D. C.; Silva, T. S.; Richeti, F.; Rocha, M. N.; Melo, M. R.; Pereira, W. L.; Chamlian, E. G.; Rivetti, L. A. Tissue-specific adaptive levels of glucocorticoid receptor alpha mRNA and their relationship with insulin resistance. *Genet. Mol. Res. GMR* **2012**, *11*, 3975–3987.

84. Nagasawa, K.; Matsuura, N.; Takeshita, Y.; Ito, S.; Sano, Y.; Yamada, Y.; Uchinaka, A.; Murohara, T.; Nagata, K. Attenuation of cold stress-induced exacerbation of cardiac and adipose tissue pathology and metabolic disorders in a rat model of metabolic syndrome by the glucocorticoid receptor antagonist RU486. *Nutr. Diabetes* **2016**, *6*, e207.

85. Meyer, G.; Hackemann, A.; Reusch, J.; Badenhoop, K. Nocturnal hypoglycemia identified by a continuous glucose monitoring system in patients with primary

adrenal insufficiency (Addison's Disease). *Diabetes Technol. Ther.* **2012**, *14*, 386–388.

86. Djurhuus, C. B.; Gravholt, C. H.; Nielsen, S.; Pedersen, S. B.; Møller, N.; Schmitz, O. Additive effects of cortisol and growth hormone on regional and systemic lipolysis in humans. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* **2004**, *286*, E488–494.

87. Chimin, P.; Farias, T. da S. M.; Torres-Leal, F. L.; Bolsoni-Lopes, A.; Campaña, A. B.;
Andreotti, S.; Lima, F. B. Chronic glucocorticoid treatment enhances lipogenic
activity in visceral adipocytes of male Wistar rats. *Acta Physiol. Oxf. Engl.* 2014, 211,
409–420.

88. de Mazancourt, P.; Giot, J.; Giudicelli, Y. Correction by dexamethasone treatment of the altered lipolytic cascade induced by adrenalectomy in rat adipocytes. *Horm. Metab. Res. Horm. Stoffwechselforschung Horm. Metab.* **1990**, *22*, 22–24.

89. Green, H.; Kehinde, O. An established preadipose cell line and its differentiation in culture II. Factors affecting the adipose conversion. *Cell* **1975**, *5*, 19–27.

90. Slavin, B. G.; Ong, J. M.; Kern, P. A. Hormonal regulation of hormone-sensitive lipase activity and mRNA levels in isolated rat adipocytes. *J. Lipid Res.* **1994**, *35*, 1535–1541.

91. Fain, J. N.; Kovacev, V. P.; Scow, R. O. Effect of growth hormone and dexamethasone on lipolysis and metabolism in isolated fat cells of the rat. *J. Biol. Chem.* **1965**, *240*, 3522–3529.

92. Djurhuus, C. B.; Gravholt, C. H.; Nielsen, S.; Mengel, A.; Christiansen, J. S.; Schmitz,
O. E.; Møller, N. Effects of cortisol on lipolysis and regional interstitial glycerol levels
in humans. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 2002, *283*, E172–177.

93. Samra, J. S.; Clark, M. L.; Humphreys, S. M.; MacDonald, I. A.; Bannister, P. A.; Frayn, K. N. Effects of physiological hypercortisolemia on the regulation of lipolysis in subcutaneous adipose tissue. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* **1998**, *83*, 626–631.

94. Birkenhäger, J. C.; Timmermans, H. A.; Lamberts, S. W. Depressed plasma FFA

turnover rate in Cushing's syndrome. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. **1976**, 42, 28–32.

95. Saunders, J.; Hall, S. E. H.; Sönksen, P. H. Glucose and free fatty acid turnover in Cushing's syndrome. *J. Endocrinol. Invest.* **1980**, *3*, 309–311.

96. Veilleux, A.; Rhéaume, C.; Daris, M.; Luu-The, V.; Tchernof, A. Omental adipose tissue type 1 11 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase oxoreductase activity, body fat distribution, and metabolic alterations in women. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* **2009**, *94*, 3550–3557.

97. McArthur, M. D.; Graham, S. E.; Russell, J. C.; Brindley, D. N. Exaggerated stressinduced release of nonesterified fatty acids in JCR:LA-corpulent rats. *Metabolism.* **1998**, *47*, 1383–1390.

98. Després, J. P.; Nadeau, A.; Tremblay, A.; Ferland, M.; Moorjani, S.; Lupien, P. J.; Thériault, G.; Pinault, S.; Bouchard, C. Role of deep abdominal fat in the association between regional adipose tissue distribution and glucose tolerance in obese women. *Diabetes* **1989**, *38*, 304–309.

99. Després, J. P. Obesity and lipid metabolism: relevance of body fat distribution. *Curr. Opin. Lipidol.* **1991**, *2*, 5.

100. Zubiría, M. G.; Alzamendi, A.; Moreno, G.; Portales, A.; Castrogiovanni, D.; Spinedi, E.; Giovambattista, A. Relationship between the Balance of Hypertrophic/Hyperplastic Adipose Tissue Expansion and the Metabolic Profile in a High Glucocorticoids Model. *Nutrients* **2016**, *8*.

101. Lee, M.-J.; Gong, D.-W.; Burkey, B. F.; Fried, S. K. Pathways regulated by glucocorticoids in omental and subcutaneous human adipose tissues: a microarray study. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* **2011**, *300*, E571–580.

102. Björntorp, P. The regulation of adipose tissue distribution in humans. *Int. J. Obes. Relat. Metab. Disord. J. Int. Assoc. Study Obes.* **1996**, *20*, 291–302.

103. Desbriere, R.; Vuaroqueaux, V.; Achard, V.; Boullu-Ciocca, S.; Labuhn, M.; Dutour, A.; Grino, M. 11beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1 mRNA is increased in both visceral and subcutaneous adipose tissue of obese patients. *Obes. Silver Spring Md* **2006**, *14*, 794–798.

104. Morgan, S. A.; McCabe, E. L.; Gathercole, L. L.; Hassan-Smith, Z. K.; Larner, D. P.; Bujalska, I. J.; Stewart, P. M.; Tomlinson, J. W.; Lavery, G. G. 11β-HSD1 is the major regulator of the tissue-specific effects of circulating glucocorticoid excess. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **2014**, *111*, E2482–E2491.

105. Candia, R.; Riquelme, A.; Baudrand, R.; Carvajal, C. A.; Morales, M.; Solís, N.; Pizarro, M.; Escalona, A.; Carrasco, G.; Boza, C.; Pérez, G.; Padilla, O.; Cerda, J.; Fardella, C. E.; Arrese, M. Overexpression of 11β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1 in visceral adipose tissue and portal hypercortisolism in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *Liver Int. Off. J. Int. Assoc. Study Liver* **2012**, *32*, 392–399.

106. Lee, M.-J.; Fried, S. K.; Mundt, S. S.; Wang, Y.; Sullivan, S.; Stefanni, A.; Daugherty,B. L.; Hermanowski-Vosatka, A. Depot-specific regulation of the conversion of

cortisone to cortisol in human adipose tissue. *Obes. Silver Spring Md* **2008**, *16*, 1178–1185.

107. Livingstone, D. E.; Jones, G. C.; Smith, K.; Jamieson, P. M.; Andrew, R.; Kenyon, C. J.; Walker, B. R. Understanding the role of glucocorticoids in obesity: tissue-specific alterations of corticosterone metabolism in obese Zucker rats. *Endocrinology* **2000**, *141*, 560–563.

108. Rebuffé-Scrive, M.; Brönnegard, M.; Nilsson, A.; Eldh, J.; Gustafsson, J. A.;

Björntorp, P. Steroid hormone receptors in human adipose tissues. J. Clin.

*Endocrinol. Metab.* **1990**, *71*, 1215–1219.

109. Hochberg, I.; Harvey, I.; Tran, Q. T.; Stephenson, E. J.; Barkan, A. L.; Saltiel, A. R.; Chandler, W. F.; Bridges, D. Gene expression changes in subcutaneous adipose tissue due to Cushing's disease. *J. Mol. Endocrinol.* **2015**, *55*, 81–94.

110. Fried, S. K.; Russell, C. D.; Grauso, N. L.; Brolin, R. E. Lipoprotein lipase regulation by insulin and glucocorticoid in subcutaneous and omental adipose tissues of obese women and men. *J. Clin. Invest.* **1993**, *92*, 2191–2198.

111. Gathercole, L. L.; Bujalska, I. J.; Stewart, P. M.; Tomlinson, J. W. Glucocorticoid modulation of insulin signaling in human subcutaneous adipose tissue. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* **2007**, *92*, 4332–4339.

112. Krieger, D. T. Brief Introduction to Cushing's Syndrome and Disease. In *Cushing's Syndrome*; Monographs on Endocrinology; Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 1982; pp. 1–4.

113. Beauregard, C.; Dickstein, G.; Lacroix, A. Classic and Recent Etiologies of Cushing's Syndrome. *Treat. Endocrinol.* **2012**, *1*, 79–94.

114. Tempark, T.; Phatarakijnirund, V.; Chatproedprai, S.; Watcharasindhu, S.; Supornsilchai, V.; Wananukul, S. Exogenous Cushing's syndrome due to topical corticosteroid application: case report and review literature. *Endocrine* **2010**, *38*, 328–334.

115. Timar, O.; Sestier, F.; Levy Metabolic syndrome X: a review. *Can. J. Cardiol.***2000**, *16*, 779–789.

116. O'Neill, S.; O'Driscoll, L. Metabolic syndrome: a closer look at the growing epidemic and its associated pathologies. *Obes. Rev. Off. J. Int. Assoc. Study Obes.* **2015**, *16*, 1–12.

117. Huang, P. L. A comprehensive definition for metabolic syndrome. *Dis. Model. Mech.* **2009**, *2*, 231–237.

118. Walker, B. R. Cortisol—cause and cure for metabolic syndrome? *Diabet. Med.*2006, *23*, 1281–1288.

119. Garrapa, G. G. M.; Pantanetti, P.; Arnaldi, G.; Mantero, F.; Faloia, E. Body Composition and Metabolic Features in Women with Adrenal Incidentaloma or Cushing's Syndrome. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* **2001**, *86*, 5301–5306.

120. Khani, S.; Tayek, J. A. Cortisol increases gluconeogenesis in humans: its role in the metabolic syndrome. *Clin. Sci.* **2001**, *101*, 739–747.

121. Nair, S.; Lee, Y. H.; Lindsay, R. S.; Walker, B. R.; Tataranni, P. A.; Bogardus, C.; Baier, L. J.; Permana, P. A. 11beta-Hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase Type 1: genetic polymorphisms are associated with Type 2 diabetes in Pima Indians independently of obesity and expression in adipocyte and muscle. *Diabetologia* **2004**, *47*, 1088– 1095. 122. Chrousos, G. P. The role of stress and the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in the pathogenesis of the metabolic syndrome: neuro-endocrine and target tissuerelated causes. *Int. J. Obes. Relat. Metab. Disord. J. Int. Assoc. Study Obes.* **2000**, *24 Suppl 2*, S50–55.

123. Pervanidou, P.; Bastaki, D.; Chouliaras, G.; Papanikolaou, K.; Laios, E.; Kanaka-Gantenbein, C.; Chrousos, G. P. Circadian cortisol profiles, anxiety and depressive symptomatology, and body mass index in a clinical population of obese children. *Stress* **2013**, *16*, 34–43.

124. Katz, J. R.; Taylor, N. F.; Goodrick, S.; Perry, L.; Yudkin, J. S.; Coppack, S. W. Central obesity, depression and the hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenal axis in men and postmenopausal women. *Int. J. Obes. Relat. Metab. Disord. J. Int. Assoc. Study Obes.* **2000**, *24*, 246–251.

125. Fleseriu, M.; Biller, B. M. K.; Findling, J. W.; Molitch, M. E.; Schteingart, D. E.;
Gross, C.; Auchus, R.; Bailey, T.; Biller, B. M. K.; Carroll, T.; Colleran, K.; Fein, H.;
Findling, J. W.; Fleseriu, M.; Hamrahian, A.; Katznelson, L.; Kerr, J.; Kipnes, M.;
Kirschner, L.; Koch, C.; Lerman, S.; Lyons, T.; McPhaul, M.; Molitch, M. E.; Schteingart,
D. E.; Vaughan, T. B.; Weiss, R. Mifepristone, a Glucocorticoid Receptor Antagonist,
Produces Clinical and Metabolic Benefits in Patients with Cushing's Syndrome. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 2012, *97*, 2039–2049.

126. Rebolledo, O. R.; Marra, C. A.; Raschia, A.; Rodriguez, S.; Gagliardino, J. J. Abdominal adipose tissue: early metabolic dysfunction associated to insulin resistance and oxidative stress induced by an unbalanced diet. *Horm. Metab. Res. Horm. Stoffwechselforschung Horm. Métabolisme* **2008**, *40*, 794–800. 127. Mollard, R. C.; Sénéchal, M.; MacIntosh, A. C.; Hay, J.; Wicklow, B. A.; Wittmeier, K. D. M.; Sellers, E. A. C.; Dean, H. J.; Ryner, L.; Berard, L.; McGavock, J. M. Dietary determinants of hepatic steatosis and visceral adiposity in overweight and obese youth at risk of type 2 diabetes. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* **2014**, *99*, 804–812.

128. Omar, B.; Pacini, G.; Ahrén, B. Differential development of glucose intolerance and pancreatic islet adaptation in multiple diet induced obesity models. *Nutrients* **2012**, *4*, 1367–1381.

129. Heinonen, I.; Rinne, P.; Ruohonen, S. T.; Ruohonen, S.; Ahotupa, M.; Savontaus, E. The effects of equal caloric high fat and western diet on metabolic syndrome, oxidative stress and vascular endothelial function in mice. *Acta Physiol. Oxf. Engl.* 

**2014**, *211*, 515–527.

130. Gorres, B. K.; Bomhoff, G. L.; Gupte, A. A.; Geiger, P. C. Altered estrogen receptor expression in skeletal muscle and adipose tissue of female rats fed a high-fat diet. *J. Appl. Physiol. Bethesda Md* 1985 **2011**, *110*, 1046–1053.

131. Lowell, B. B.; Goodman, M. N. Protein sparing in skeletal muscle during prolonged starvation. Dependence on lipid fuel availability. *Diabetes* 1987, *36*, 14–19.

132. Chang, J.; Kashyap, S. R. The protein-sparing modified fast for obese patients with type 2 diabetes: what to expect. *Cleve. Clin. J. Med.* **2014**, *81*, 557–565.

133. Lam, Y. Y.; Ravussin, E. Indirect calorimetry: an indispensable tool to understand and predict obesity. *Eur. J. Clin. Nutr.* **2016**.

134. Kiens, B.; Essen-Gustavsson, B.; Christensen, N. J.; Saltin, B. Skeletal muscle substrate utilization during submaximal exercise in man: effect of endurance training. *J. Physiol.* **1993**, *469*, 459–478.

135. The Anatomy and Physiology of the Human Stress Response. In *A Clinical Guide to the Treatment of the Human Stress Response*; Everly, G. S.; Lating, J. M., Eds.; Plenum Series on Stress and Coping; Springer US, 2002; pp. 15–48.

136. Kolnes, A. J.; Birk, J. B.; Eilertsen, E.; Stuenæs, J. T.; Wojtaszewski, J. F. P.; Jensen, J. Epinephrine-stimulated glycogen breakdown activates glycogen synthase and increases insulin-stimulated glucose uptake in epitrochlearis muscles. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* **2015**, *308*, E231–240.

137. Chiasson, J.-L.; Shikama, H.; Chu, D. T. W.; Exton, J. H. Inhibitory Effect of Epinephrine on Insulin-stimulated Glucose Uptake by Rat Skeletal Muscle. *J. Clin. Invest.* **1981**, *68*, 706–713.

138. Cartee, G. D.; Young, D. A.; Sleeper, M. D.; Zierath, J.; Wallberg-Henriksson, H.; Holloszy, J. O. Prolonged increase in insulin-stimulated glucose transport in muscle after exercise. *Am. J. Physiol.* **1989**, *256*, E494–499.

139. Mikines, K. J.; Sonne, B.; Farrell, P. A.; Tronier, B.; Galbo, H. Effect of physical exercise on sensitivity and responsiveness to insulin in humans. *Am. J. Physiol.* **1988**, *254*, E248–259.

140. Garetto, L. P.; Richter, E. A.; Goodman, M. N.; Ruderman, N. B. Enhanced muscle glucose metabolism after exercise in the rat: the two phases. *Am. J. Physiol.* **1984**, *246*, E471–475.

141. AbouAssi, H.; Slentz, C. A.; Mikus, C. R.; Tanner, C. J.; Bateman, L. A.; Willis, L. H.;
Shields, A. T.; Piner, L. W.; Penry, L. E.; Kraus, E. A.; Huffman, K. M.; Bales, C. W.;
Houmard, J. A.; Kraus, W. E. The effects of aerobic, resistance, and combination
training on insulin sensitivity and secretion in overweight adults from STRRIDE
AT/RT: a randomized trial. *J. Appl. Physiol. Bethesda Md 1985* 2015, *118*, 1474–1482.
142. Knudsen, J. G.; Bertholdt, L.; Joensen, E.; Lassen, S. B.; Hidalgo, J.; Pilegaard, H.
Skeletal muscle interleukin-6 regulates metabolic factors in iWAT during HFD and
exercise training. *Obes. Silver Spring Md* 2015, *23*, 1616–1624.

143. Lafontan, M.; Berlan, M. Characterization of physiological agonist selectivity of human fat cell alpha 2-adrenoceptors: adrenaline is the major stimulant of the alpha 2-adrenoceptors. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* **1982**, *82*, 107–111.

144. Macdonald, T. L.; Wan, Z.; Frendo-Cumbo, S.; Dyck, D. J.; Wright, D. C. IL-6 and epinephrine have divergent fiber type effects on intramuscular lipolysis. *J. Appl. Physiol. Bethesda Md* 1985 **2013**, *115*, 1457–1463.

145. Sellers, T. L.; Jaussi, A. W.; Yang, H. T.; Heninger, R. W.; Winder, W. W. Effect of the exercise-induced increase in glucocorticoids on endurance in the rat. *J. Appl. Physiol. Bethesda Md* 1985 **1988**, 65, 173–178.

146. Tharp, G. D. The role of glucocorticoids in exercise. *Med. Sci. Sports* 1974, 7, 6–11.

147. Frenkl, R.; Csalay, L. Effect of regular muscular activity on adrenocortical function in rats. *J. Sports Med. Phys. Fitness* **1962**, *2*, 207–211.

148. Dieter, M. P. Glucose metabolism in rat lymphatic tissues: effects of acute and chronic exercise. *Life Sci.* **1969**, *8*, 459–468.

149. Duclos, M.; Gouarne, C.; Bonnemaison, D. Acute and chronic effects of exercise on tissue sensitivity to glucocorticoids. *J. Appl. Physiol. Bethesda Md* 1985 **2003**, *94*, 869–875.

150. Faria, C. D. C.; Castro, R. B.; Longui, C. A.; Kochi, C.; Barbosa, V. L. P.; Sousa E Silva, T.; Rocha, M. N.; Melo, M. R.; Monte, O. Impact of prolonged low-grade physical training on the in vivo glucocorticoid sensitivity and on glucocorticoid receptoralpha mRNA levels of obese adolescents. *Horm. Res. Paediatr.* **2010**, *73*, 458–464. 151. Silva, T. S.; Longui, C. A.; Faria, C. D. C.; Rocha, M. N.; Melo, M. R.; Faria, T. G.; de Souza e Almeida, J. A.; Hayashi, L. F.; Kater, C. E. Impact of prolonged physical training on the pituitary glucocorticoid sensitivity determined by very low dose intravenous dexamethasone suppression test. *Horm. Metab. Res. Horm. Stoffwechselforschung Horm. Metab.* **2008**, *40*, 718–721.

152. Borer, K. T. *Exercise Endocrinology*; Human Kinetics, 2003.

153. Molina, P. *Endocrine Physiology, Fourth Edition*; McGraw Hill Professional, 2013. 154. Sharara-Chami, R. I.; Joachim, M.; Pacak, K.; Majzoub, J. A. Glucocorticoid treatment-effect on adrenal medullary catecholamine production. *Shock* **2010**, *33*, 213–217.

155. McMurray, P. R. G.; Hackney, A. C. Interactions of Metabolic Hormones, Adipose Tissue and Exercise. *Sports Med.* **2012**, *35*, 393–412.

156. Bista, B.; Beck, N. Cushing syndrome. *Indian J. Pediatr.* **2014**, *81*, 158–164.

157. Campbell, J. E.; Fediuc, S.; Hawke, T. J.; Riddell, M. C. Endurance exercise training increases adipose tissue glucocorticoid exposure: adaptations that facilitate lipolysis. *Metabolism.* **2009**, *58*, 651–660.

158. Rask, E.; Olsson, T.; Soderberg, S.; Andrew, R.; Livingstone, D. E. W.; Johnson, O.; Walker, B. R. Tissue-Specific Dysregulation of Cortisol Metabolism in Human Obesity. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* **2001**, *86*, 1418–1421.

159. Karimi, S.; Attarzadeh-Yazdi, G.; Yazdi-Ravandi, S.; Hesam, S.; Azizi, P.; Razavi, Y.; Haghparast, A. Forced swim stress but not exogenous corticosterone could induce the reinstatement of extinguished morphine conditioned place preference in rats: Involvement of glucocorticoid receptors in the basolateral amygdala. *Behav. Brain Res.* **2014**. *264*. 43–50.

160. Marks, W.; Fournier, N. M.; Kalynchuk, L. E. Repeated exposure to corticosterone increases depression-like behavior in two different versions of the forced swim test without altering nonspecific locomotor activity or muscle strength. *Physiol. Behav.* **2009**, *98*, 67–72.

161. Stallknecht, B.; Lorentsen, J.; Enevoldsen, L. H.; Bülow, J.; Biering-Sørensen, F.; Galbo, H.; Kjær, M. Role of the sympathoadrenergic system in adipose tissue metabolism during exercise in humans. *J. Physiol.* **2001**, *536*, 283–294.

162. Arner, P.; Kriegholm, E.; Engfeldt, P.; Bolinder, J. Adrenergic regulation of lipolysis in situ at rest and during exercise. *J. Clin. Invest.* 1990, *85*, 893–898.
163. Wise, J. K.; Hendler, R.; Felig, P. Influence of glucocorticoids on glucagon secretion and plasma amino acid concentrations in man. *J. Clin. Invest.* 1973, *52*,

2774–2782.

164. Galbo, H.; Holst, J. J.; Christensen, N. J. Glucagon and plasma catecholamine responses to graded and prolonged exercise in man. *J. Appl. Physiol.* **1975**, *38*, 70–76.

165. Boisseau, N.; Rannou, F.; Delamarche, P.; Monnier, M.; Gratas, A. Insulin sensitivity and exercise. *Child. Exerc. Ninet.* **1997**, *2*, 412.

166. Oliveira, N. R. C.; Marques, S. O.; Luciano, T. F.; Pauli, J. R.; Moura, L. P.; Caperuto,

E.; Pieri, B. L. S.; Engelmann, J.; Scaini, G.; Streck, E. L.; Lira, F. S.; Pinho, R. A.; Ropelle,

E. R.; Silva, A. S. R.; De Souza, C. T. Treadmill training increases SIRT-1 and PGC-1  $\alpha$ 

protein levels and AMPK phosphorylation in quadriceps of middle-aged rats in an intensity-dependent manner. *Mediators Inflamm.* **2014**, *2014*, 987017.

167. Costill, D. L.; Coyle, E.; Dalsky, G.; Evans, W.; Fink, W.; Hoopes, D. Effects of elevated plasma FFA and insulin on muscle glycogen usage during exercise. *J. Appl. Physiol.* **1977**, *43*, 695–699.

168. Stich, V.; Berlan, M. Physiological regulation of NEFA availability: lipolysis pathway. *Proc. Nutr. Soc.* **2004**, *63*, 369–374.

## 7.0 APPENDIX



**Figure S1.0; Body weight in grams on day of experiment.** Vehicle animals are expressed as white box, corticosterone treated animals expressed as shaded box. There was a significant effect of treatment (p = 0.03). SC weighed significantly less than EC (p = 0.004). SV; n = 7, SC; n = 13, EV; n = 10, EC; n = 10.



Figure S2.0; Metabolic Data for all animals in which RER data was collected. Vehicle animals are expressed as white box, corticosterone treated animals. Data is represented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation. The light grey box denotes the range of the pre-treatment mean  $\pm$  standard deviation. A) Plasma corticosterone content. Main effect of treatment (p = 0.0003). B) Plasma non-esterified fatty acid content. C) Plasma glucagon content. D) Blood glucose content. Main effect of activity (p<0.0001). E) Plasma insulin content. SV; n = 7, SC; n = 4, EV; n = 10, EC; n = 10.



Figure S3.0; Respiratory exchange ratio for exercising animals at all time points; hashed box indicates exercise period. Corticosterone animals are indicated with black symbols, white symbols indicate vehicle. Data points represent mean RER over 3 minutes with standard deviation. There was an effect of treatment (p = 0.0098), and an effect of time (p<0.0001), but no interaction. EV, n = 10, EC, n = 10.